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Alpharma Inc. (NYSE: ALO) is a global specialty pharmaceutical cormpany with leadership
positions in products for humans and animals. Alpharma is presently active in more
than 60 countries. Alpharma has a growing branded pharmaceuticals franchise in the
chronic pain market with its morphine-based extended release KADIAN® product.

In addition, Alpharma is among the world’s leading producers of several specialty

pharmaceutical-grade bulk antibiotics and is internationally recognized as a leading

provider of pharmaceutical products for poultry and livestock.
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Key Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients Europe

Key products include Vancomyein (API, capsules Budapest, Hungary;
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at-a-glance

Pharmaceuticals

Rapidly growing pain product business

Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients

Leading worldwide producer of key
active pharmaceutical ingredients

Animal Health

Leading glekal manufacturer and marketer
of pharmaceutical products for poultry,
swine and cattle producers

Major Markets & Customers

Key Market

u.s.

Key Customers

Wholesalers, chain drugstores and distributors
# of Employees: 300

Market Presence in over 60 Countries

Key Markets

U.S., Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin America
Key Customers

Pharmaceutical companies

# of Employees: 625

Market Presence in over 60 Countries

Key Markets

U.S., Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin America
Key Customers

Poultry, cattle and swine integrators, feed-milis

and premix companies, animal health distribution

crganizations
# of Employees: 430

2006
Revenues
by Business

__[% milliens)_

$138

%168

$347




Qur Vision

Through great people who are passionate about
serving the evolving needs of our customers, we

will become a leader in specially pharmaceuticals.

Qur Values
> ALPHARMA

financial highlights

Bias for Action Seizing oppeortunities and
delivering results 2 Teamwaork wWaorking together to
exceed goals & Courage Leading constructive change
2 Integrity Deing what is right % Innovation

Creating value for customers and shareholders

Years Ended December 31,

{in millions, except per share datal 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
PROFIT AND LOSS
Net revenues $ 654 § 554 § 513 § 479 § 443
Cperating income (loss) 5 96 $§ 8 $ 63 $§ 69 s M
Net income (loss) from continuing operations $ 60 § 62 % 47 § (O $ {337
SHARE DATA
Diluted earnings {loss) per share:
Income {loss) from continuing operations $1.11 $ 117 §{0.5800 $10.19 $(677)
Average commen shares outstanding {diluted) 54.2 53.0 52.1 52.0 498
BALANCE SHEET AT DECEMBER 31
Total assets $927 $1,623 $2,000 $2342 $2,312 ‘
Total debt 5 — $ M7 % 702 % B17 % 896 |
Stockholders’ equity 3724 $ 918 % 884 $1,13t  $1,010 ‘

See footnotes on Page 6 for additional information.

Forward-Looking Statement
Statements made in this annual report include forward-looking statemants within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, These stalements,

including those relating to future financia! expactations, involve certain risks and uncertainties that cou!d cause actual results to differ materially from these in the forward-
looking staterments. Information an other significant potential risks and uncertainties not discussed herain may be found in the Company’s filings with tha Securities and

Exchange Commission including its Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.




dear shareholders

iInnovation

In July 2006, | joined Alpharma as your Chief Executive Officer and
immediately embarked, along with the company’s Board of Directors

and its Leadership Team, on the development of a strategy to maximize
shareholder value over the next five years. The outcome of this review
was our conviction that Alpharma has a unigue opportunity to build a high
value specialty pharmaceutical business that can deliver sustainable growth
and create shareholder value over the long-term. We have developed clear
and aggressive plans to reach this goal, and while the specific initiatives
differ in each of our businesses, the common denominator to our future
success is driving growth through innovation.




New product efferts in our Pharmaceuticals business are focused
on the market need for ahuse-deterrent products. Physicians
are keenly aware that products prescribed to relieve pain can be
abused and as a result may hesitate to prescribe these products
to patients with legitimate needs. Alpharma has developed an
approach to abuse deterrence that we believe will reduce
concerns regarding abuse associated with the prescription of
pain products, and as a result, improve the treatment of pain.
We are targeting the first of these products, KADIAN® NT,
to be launched in 2009, with other pain products using the
same platform planned to {oliow.

Our Animal Health and Active Pharmaceutical Ingredienis
businesses are focusing en new products that can leverage
their technical and regulatory expertise, and strong repuiation
for product excellence, reliability and customer service.

QOur financial goals over the next five years are aggressive:
wae are targeting revenues to grow from the current $650 million
tevel, 1o over $1.5 hillion in 2011. To atiain this five year goal,
we are targeting a compound annual growth rate of 40% to 50%
in our Pharmaceuticals business, and in our Animal Health
and Active Pharmaceuiical Ingredients businesses, 6% to 8%
compound growth. In addition to the organic opportunities for
growth inherent in each business, we are actively pursuing
business development opportunities that we believe will
complement our existing commercial footprints and accelerate
and expand growth.

We also recogniie that Algharma is going to be a different
company going forward. We have excellent resources within the
company, but need to expand our capabilities to drive innovation,
and we will be selectively targeting areas where we need to
add resources and skills to the company to ensure we can deliver
on our long-term goals.

Dean J. Mischell

President and Chief Executive Officer

2006 RESULTS AND PROGRESS AGAINST OBJECTIVES
We believe our strong 2006 financial performance is a good
indicator of the company's ability to execute. Full year
2006 revenue increased $100 million, or 18% versus 2005,
reflecting strong revenue gains in all three businesses.
Research and develcpment spending increased $17 million to
$44 million, primarily due to the development of new products
in Pharmaceuticals, and represented 6.8% of sales in 2006
versus 4.9% in 2005, This increased investment is crucial to
building a new product pipeling that we believe will ultimately
drive growth. Operating incorne increased slightly in 2006,
after reflecting increased research and development spending
and higher selling, general and administrative expenses
related to increased infrastructure to support the company's
growth initiatives.

In 20086, in addition to delivering a strong financial performance,
the company met or exceeded maost of the critical operational
milesiones we established to drive innovation across all three
businesses. Qur Pharmaceuticals business completed a
successful Phase Il clinical program on its abuse-deterrent
extended release opioid product, and we have commenced
Phase HI clinical trials of this program. We also developed and
shared with the FDA what we believe to be compelling data
that demonstrated alcohol consumption does not impact the
performance of our KADIAN® product. This data resulted
in FDA approval of preduct labeling that is less severe in
terms of alcohol interaction warnings than that of several
competitive products.

Both the Animal Health and Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients
busingsses met their new product targets, and made significant
progress in establishing alliances in low cost geographies that
will strengthen our fuiure cost structure.




Qur goal is to build a high value specialty pharmaceutical
business that will deliver sustainable growth and create
shareholder value over the long-term.

The company also took other significant actions to support
the creation of a growing high value speciaity pharmaceutical
business over the next several years The Class B share repur-
chase moved contro! of the company to the A shareholders,
and expanded the company's opticns for future investments.
In addition, the elimination of the dividend will free up funds
for growth initiatives. The company and its former B share-
hoiders, A.L. Industrier ASA, have enjoyed a highly productive
relationship, and | would like to extend our appreciation to
them for their consistent support over the years.

The company entered 2007 with a solid financial position: over
$100 millien in cash, and a proven track record of generating
strong cash earnings. In March 2007, we augmented our cash
resources with a $300 million convertible debt offering with
terms we believe to be highly favorable. Finally, with the
addition of several high caliber executives, we have begun
the process of shaping a robust organization vital to executing
our plans for significant growth and innovation over the next
several years.

2007 MILESTONES

When we presented our strategy at our publicly available
investor conference in December 2006, we asked investors to
judge us not on what we say, but on what we deliver. In order
1o evaluate our progress, we have set tangible objectives for
ourselves. In 2007, our key milestones are as follows:

Pharmaceuticals: Execution of the Phase Il clinical program
on our abuse-deterrent morphine based KADIAN® product,
commencement of Phase |l ¢linical work on an abuse-deterrent
oxycodone product, and the expansion of our existing pipeline
with synergistic business development agreements.

Dean J. Mitchell

total company
five-year revenue target

£ in millions

1.800

2006 201
Pharmaceuticals [ AP {J AH

Animal Health: Seven new product launches and 20 new
registrations for existing products in new geographies.

Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients: Two new product
launches, the completion of the injectable finished dose product
{acility which will enable the supply of finished dose product
in vials and increased vancomycin manufacturing capacity,

IN CLOSING

We've set aggressive targets for growth over the next five years
which, if we are successful, will more than double the size of
our company. The bulk of that growth is going to be driven by
the launch of abuse-deterrent products in our Pharmaceuticals
business, but the intrinsic technology risk in that business will
be balanced by our strang positions in the Animat Heaith and
Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients businesses, and innovation
will be funded with the significant cash generated by these
solid businesses.

Alpharma has undergone a significani transformation over the
past several years that has positively impacted our fundamental
structure and prospects for growth. | would like 1o thank
Einar Sissener, former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
and Ingrid Wiik, Vice Chairman and previous Chief Executive
Officer, for their support during our transformation, and their
longstanding commitment and contributions io the company.

While our plans for growth are ambitious and involve risk, we
are focused on precisely what we need 10 achieve and bow
{0 measure success, and we look forward to updating you on
our future progress.

.

President and Chief Executive Officer



new illicit drug use in the united states: 2005
rumbers in thousands

2,133 2,114
1,286
877 872
— — 647 615
247 243
— — 168 77
Pain Marijuana Tranquilizers Inhalants Cocaine  Stimulants  Ecstasy  Sedatives LSD Heroin PCP
Relievers*

*526,000 new non-medical users of OxyContirf®
SAMHSA. Results from the 2005 Nationat Survey on Drug Use and Health. DHHS Publication No. SMADG-4194, 2006,

the problem of apbuse

Chronic pain is a common and burdensome medical problem that prescription
pain relievers address, in most cases, with positive results. However, the
increased availability of these products has created another problem:
abuse. While most patients use these products responsibly, recent data
suggests that pain relievers have become the leading initial choice for
first-time illicit drug users, exceeding marijuana and tranquilizers. Physicians
are highly concerned about abuse™ and, as a result, may hesitate to prescribe
these products to patients who have legitimate needs, resulting in the
undertreatment of pain. Alpharma is making significant investments in
an abuse-deterrent product platform to assist doctors in treating pain
more effectively, with less concern about the misuse and diversion of
these products.

" Based on company market research.
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selected financial data

The following is a summary of selected financial data for the Company and its subsidiaries. The data for each of
the three years far the periods ended December 31, 2006 have been derived from, and all data should be read
in conjunction with, the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company, which begin on page 22. On
December 19, 2005, the Company sold its Generics Business and on March 31, 2006, the Company sold its ParMed
Business {see Note 3 to the consclidated financial statements}. Both of these businesses are reported as Discontinued
Operations. The following selected financial data is presented for continuing operations only. All amounts are in
thousands, except per share data.

2006 2005 2004% 2003w 20029
$653,828 $ 553617 $ 513329 § 479467 $ 442,706

Total revenues

Cost of sales 271,988 217,363 218,712 210,298 218,242

Gross profit 381.840 336,254 294,617 269,169 224, 464
Selling, general and administrative expenses 250,069 213,323 195,054 174,379 154,399
Research and development 44,430 26,936 2540 21,837 25,752
Asset impairments and other {income} expense {8,259) 1,184 11,110 4,09 155,123

QOperating income (loss} 95,600 94,811 63,022 68,862 (110,810}
Interest income (expense), net 16,453 (47,750) {57,982} (63,369} (76,524}
Loss on extinguishment of debt, other (19,415} {7,989) {2,795) (29,100) (52,929)
Other income {expense}, net (129) 4,706 458 2,562 (2,514)
Income (loss) from continuing operations

before provision for income taxes 92,509 43,778 2,703 (21,045) (242,777)
Provision (benefit} for income taxes 32,517 (18,398) 49,466 (11,418) 94,477

Net income {loss) from continuing operations $59992 $ 62176 $§ (46763) $ (9.629) $ (337,254}

Earnings {loss) from continuing operations

per common share:

Basic $ 1.2 118 & {0.90} % 019 % 6.77}

Diluted $ 11 117 % {0.90 % 019 % (6.77)
Dividend per common share $ 0.135 018 § 018 § 018 § 0.18
Balance Sheet Information 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Total assets $927,239 $1,623,383 $2.039,612 $2342,147 $2,312,438
Cash and cash equivalents 113,163 800,010 105,212 58,623 23,872
Total debt — 416,669 701,735 817,156 895,858
Total stockholders’ equity 723,999 918,078 883,642 1,130,736 1,009,851

1} Includes a call premiurn of $18.9 million and the write-off of deterred loan costs af $0.5 million, associated with tha repayment of the Company's
remaining outstanding debt in January 2006. The results for 2006 also include a net pre-tax pension curtailment gain.

2} Includes the reversal of a deferred tax valuation allowance of $52.1 million, taxes of $28.6 million on the repatriation of cash earnings from
controfled foreign corporations and pre-tax charges of $8.0 million for extinguishment of debt, primarily related to the write-off of deferred loan
costs resulting from the prepayment of debt.

3} Includes a $10.0 mitlion charge to write down the carrying value of the former AH Aquatics business assets to fair value.

4} Includes loss resuliing from the extinguishment of $200 million 12 1/2% notes and the related issuance of $220 million of 8 5/8% notes.
The extinguishrment resulted in the expensing of $22.2 miliion in placement fees and the recognition of $6.2 million of deferred debt expense.

5} Includes charges related o de-leveraging aciivities of $51.1 million, charges for reorganization, refocus and other actions of $49.0 million,
and impairment charges of $103.1 million.

page 6| Afpharma Inc. and Subsidiaries 2006 Annual Report



management’s discussion and analysis of financial conditions
and results of Operations {In mitions, except per share data)

Alpharma Entities Defined

Alpharma’s business segments are defined as follows:
Pharmaceuticals (formerly "Branded Pharmaceuticals”),
Active Pharmaceutical ingredients (“AP1”), and Animal
Health ("AH").

Overview

Alpharma is a global specialty pharmaceutical company
that develops, manufactures and markets pharmaceu-
tical products for humans and animals. The Company
markets one branded pharmaceutical prescription prod-
uct that is contract manufactured by a third-party; a pain
medication sold under the trademark KADIAN®, in the
U.S. Alpharma manufactures and markets a line of fer-
mentation-based active pharmaceutical ingredients and
one chemical synthesis based active pharmaceutical
ingredient {collectively “APIs") that are used primarily by
third parties in the manufacturing of generic and branded
pharmaceutical products. The Company manufactures
and markets animal health products in over 100 formu-
lations and dosage forms. The Company presently
conducts business in more than 80 countries and has
approximately 1,400 employees in over 20 countries.

Far the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company
generated revenues of approximately $653.8 million
from its continuing operations, and $17.1 million related
1o the Company's former generic pharmaceutical tele-
marketing distribution business which was sold on
March 31, 2006.

On December 19, 2005, the Company scld its
world-wide human generic pharmaceutical business
{the "Generics Business”), excluding ParMed Pharma-
ceuticals Inc. ("ParMed”), its generic pharmaceutical
telemarketing distribution unit, to Actavis Group hf
{“Actavis”} for cash in the amount of $810 million. On
March 31, 20086, the Company sold ParMed for cash
in the amount of $40.1 million.

The Generics Business and ParMed (collectively, the
"Discontinued Operations”), are classified as discon-
tinued operations in the Company’s financial statements
at December 31, 2006 and 2005 and for the three

years ended December 31, 2006. See Discontinued
Operations for further discussion and analysis.

Repurchase of Class B Shares; Elimination of
Controlling Stockholder

Until December 28, 20086, A.L. Industrier ASA (“Indus-
trier”) beneficially owned all of the outstanding shares
of the Company’s Class B common siock, or approxi-
mately 22% of the Company's total common stock as
of such date. Through its ownership of the Class B
common stock, Industrier had voting power that pro-
vided it with effective control of the Company. On
December 28, 2006, the Company purchased 100%
(11,872,897 shares) of the outstanding shares of the
Company’s Class B common stock from industrier at
a price of $25.50 per share. Including related fees,

the cost of the repurchase was approximately $307.4
million, which was paid using available cash on hand.
Following the Class B share repurchase, control of the
Company now rests in the holders of the Class A shares
acting by the majority applicable under Delaware law
and the Company's charter documents.

Continuing Operations

The main factors affecting the Pharmaceuticals
business, {formerly the Branded Pharmaceuticals
business) are:

e Pharmaceuticals markets one branded pharmaceutical
prescription product, a pain medication sold under
the trademark KADIAN, in the U.S. that is contract
manufactured by a third-party. Pharmaceuticals is
currently focused on the pain management market in
the United States. For the year ended December 31,
2006, Pharmaceuticals had product sales of $138.2
million and operating income of $28.3 million.

Pharmaceuticals realizes significant gross profit margins
on its sales of KADIAN; but competes in a highly com-
petitive market, and is subject to potential challenges
from generic equivalents, The Company's business plan
includes significant investments in research and devel-
opment spending associated with the development of a
next-generation pain product with abuse-deterrent char-
acteristics. Pharmaceuticals has experienced improved
profitability as a result of a number of factars, including
product prescription growth.

Alpharma Inc. and Subsidiaries 2006 Annual Report | page 7




management’s discussion and analysis of financial conditions
and results of operations (i miions, except per share data)

{continued}

The main factors affecting the Active Pharmaceuti-

cal Ingredients {APl) business are:

* APl markets globally primarily 14 antibiotic API's
that are generally used by third-parties in the manu-
facture of finished dose pharmaceutical products.
APl realizes strong gross profit margins and has
experienced and expects continuing increased global
competition on its products and associated pricing
pressure. For the year ended December 31, 2006,
AP had product sales of $168.7 million and operat-
ing income of $51.8 million. Operating income in
2006 was favorably impacted by a $7.8 million
curtailment gain related to freezing a Norwegian
defined benefit pension plan.

The main factors affecting the Animal Health (AH)

business are:

¢ The Company's AH business is a global leader in
the development, registration, manufacturing and
marketing of medicated feed additives {"MFAs"}
and water soluble vitamin type substances for food
producing animals; including poultry, cattle, and
swine. Agricultural markets have historically had low
growth rates. In addition, demand for the Company's
products has been and could be reduced by bans
or restrictions on the use of antibiotics used in
food-producing animals. Material changes in animal
production input prices (i.e., corn} may have a nega-
tive effect on the sales of product. Significant flock/
herd health {avian flu outbreak, BSE etc) may impact
the companies sales of product. AH has increased
its revenues and profitability through expanding and
enhanced market positions, new products, new indi-
cations for existing products, and cost-reduction and
other productivity improvement initiatives, For the
year ended December 31, 2006, AH had product
sales of $346.9 million and operating income of
$71.5 million.

page &|Alpharma Inc. and Subsidiaries 2006 Annual Report

The following summarizes significant events and trans-
actions for the past three years:

2006

In December 2006, the Company acquired all of the
outstanding Class B shares for $307.4 million.

In December 20086, the Company froze its Norwe-
gian and U.S. pension plans, replacing themn with
enhanced defined contribution plans, and realizing
a net pre-tax curtailment gain of $7.5 miliion.

In the fourth quarter of 2006, Company’'s Pharma-
ceuticals business initiated its pivotal Phase I
clinical trials for its abuse-deterrent extended
release opioid.

In September 2008, the Company anncunced
positive results from a Phase || multi-dose
clinical efficacy and pharmacokinetic trial for its
abuse-deterrent, extended release opioid.

in June 2006, the Company's API business
announced that it had reached an agreement with
a Chinese manufacturer to expand its capacity to
manufacture Vancomycin.

In March 2008, the Company sold ParMed, its
generic pharmaceutical telemarketing business,
to Cardinal Health Inc. for $40.1 million.

In March 2006, the US asset-based loan agreement
was amended and restated to reduce the facility to
$75 million.

In January 2008, the Company paid all of its
cutstanding debt using available cash, including
proceeds from the sale of its Generics Business
in December 2005.




2005

« |n December 2005, the Company sold its
global Generics Business to Actavis Group hf
for $810 million.

s |n December 2005, the Company gave notice to
the Trustee’s under both the Senior Notes and the
Convertible Notes that it was irrevocably electing to
redeem all such notes in accordance with the terms
of the respective note indentures.

¢ in October 2005, the Company entered into a new
$210 million US asset-based loan agreement. Pro-
ceeds from this new loan facility were used to pay
off and cancel all outstanding amounts due under
the Company’s 2001 U.S. Bank Credit Facility.

¢ In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company reversed
its deferred tax valuation allowance given its current
and expected profitability, resulting in a tax benefit
of $52.1 million.

» The Company repatriated cash in 2005 under the
provisions of the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004. The 2005 tax provision includes approximately
$28.6 million related to this cash repatriation.

2004

¢ In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company adjusted
its deferred tax valuation, primarily to set up a full
valuation allowance for ali U.S. deferred taxes. This
resulted in a charge of $59.5 million.

* The Company sold its Aquatic Animal Health Group
{"Aquatic”}) in July of 2004 and recorded a pretax
loss of approximately $10.0 million.

* In May and August 2004, the Company amended
the 2001 U.5. Bank Credit Facility to allow flexibility
in complying with the covenants and permit the
repayment of the mortgage notes and the convert-
ible subordinated notes.

e In the first half of 2004, the Company prepaid $75.0
million of the 2001 U.S. Bank Credit Facility's term
loans, $32.0 million of mortgage notes payable in
Norwegian Kroner and $24.5 million of 5.75% con-
vertible subordinated notes.

¢ The Company purchased the outstanding 50% of
Wynco LLC {"Wynco”) equity subsidiary and subse-
quently sold the entire company within the first
quarter of 2004.

Results of Continuing Operations 2006 vs. 2005
{All comparisons of resulis of operations refer to continuing
operations)

Total revenue increased $100.2 million or 18.1% for

the year ended Decernber 31, 2006 compared to 2005.
Foreign exchange had a slight favorable impact on reve-
nues for the year. Operating income was $95.6 million
in 2006 compared to $94.8 million in 2005. Diluted
earnings per share was $1.11 in 2006 compared to
$1.17 in 2005. Results for the year ended December 31,
2008, included the payment of a call premium of $18.9
million and the write-off of deferred loan costs of $0.6
million, associated with the repayment of the Compa-
ny's remaining outstanding debt in January 2006. The
results for 2006 also included a net pre-tax curtailment
gain from the freezing of the Norwegian and U.S. pen-
sion plans of $7.5 miltion. 2005 results included the
reversal of a deferred tax valuation allowance of $52.1
million, taxes of $28.6 million on the repatriation of
earnings from controlled foreign corporations and pre-
tax charges of $8.0 million for extinguishment of debt,
primarily related to the write-off of deferred loan costs
resulting from the prepayment of debt.

Alpharma Inc. and Subsidiaries 2006 Annual Report | page 9




management’s discussion and analysis of financial conditions
and results of operations un miions, except per share dats)

{continued}

The following table sets forth revenues and operating income by segment:

Revenues Operating Income {Loss)
Year Ended December 31, 2006 2005 % 2008 2005 %
Pharmaceuticals $138.2 $101.6 36.0% $283 $236 19.9 %
API 168.7 138.4 21.9% 51.8 524 1.1)%
AH 346.9 3256.1 6.7% ns 66.3 78%
Unallocated and Eliminations — (11.5) N/M {56.0) {47.5} (17.9)%
Total $£653.8 $553.6 18.1% $ 95.6 $948 0.8 %

N/M—Not meaningful

The following summarizes revenues and operating
income by segment:

Revenues

Pharmaceuticals revenues increased $36.6 million, or
36.0%, to $138.2 million in 2006 compared to $101.6
million in 2005. The revenue growth was primarily a
result of increased year-over-year prescriptions which
contributed to volume increases of $17.5 million and
higher price realization which contributed $19.1 million of
the year over year increase. Included in the net volume
gain is the impact of a reduction in wholesaler inventory
levels in 2006 from approximately three months

at the end of the fourth quarter of 2005, to approxi-
mately one and a half months at the end of the fourth
quarter of 2006.

Revenues in API increased $30.3 million, 1o $168.7
million compared to $138.4 miillion in 2005. Revenues
in 2006 included approximately $16.8 million of low
margin sales of products that, in 2005, were reported
as sales by the Company's divested Generics Business.
The rermnainder of the revenue increase of $13.5 million,
or 9.8%, was attributable to increase volumes, princi-
pally related to Vancomycin, partially offset by pricing
declines. The effects of translating revenues into U.S.
dollars was insignificant.

AH revenues increased $21.8 million or 6.7%, 10 $346.9
million in 2006 versus 2005, due primarily to higher
volumes in U.S. livestock markets of approximately

$13 million and increased sales into international markets
of approximately $6.4 million. In addition, transtation of
revenues into the U.S. dollar increased AH revenues by
approximately $1.7 million compared to 2005.

page 10|A]pharma In¢, and Subsidiaries 2006 Annual Report

Gross Profit

Cverall, the Company's gross profit increased $45.6
million in 2006 compared to 2005, As a percentage of
sales, gross profit was 58.4% in 2006, versus 60.7%
in 2005.

The increase in gross profit dollars is the result of
increased volumes in all three business segments and
favorable price realization in Pharmaceuticals. The lower
gross profit percentage is primarily a result of low mar-
gin sales of API products that, in 2005, were reported
as sales by the Company’s divested Generics Business.
in addition, the decline in gross profit percentage reflects
lower gross margins in the API business attributable to
lower pricing on certain products and increased costs
associaied with new product development, geographic
expansion, and certain asset write-downs.

Selling, General and

Administrative Expenses {(SG&A)

On a consolidated basis, SG&A expenses increased
$£36.7 million in 2006 as compared to 2005. As a
percentage of revenues, SG&A expense was 38.2%
in 2006 versus 38.5% in 2005.

The majority, or $26 millicn of the year-over-year
increase, was across all three businesses for additional
operational infrastructure to support the Company's
growth initiatives and also reflects higher distribution
costs in 2006. The remainder of the increase relates
primarily to ¢osts related 1o senior management reten-
tion and transition, and the discontinuance of the
Company's performance unit plan, offset partially by a
favorable insurance recovery. In addition, stock option
expense contributed $2.4 million of the year-over-year




increase in SG&A and foreign exchange had a favarable
impact of $1.1 million to the year-over-year change in
SG&A expenses.

Research and Development (R&D)

Research and development expenses increased $17.5
million, or 64.9%, in 2006 compared tc 2005. As a
percentage of revenues, R&D expenses amounted to
6.8% in 2006 compared 1o 4.9% in 2005. The increase
in R&D is due almost exclusively to Pharmaceutical's
new product development spending.

Operating Income {Loss)

Asset Impairments and Other

Asset impairments and other amounted to a net $8.3
million gain in 2006 compared to a loss in 2005 of

$1.2 million, The gain in 2006 primarily consists of a net
curtailment gain of $7.5 millien from the freezing of the
Norwegian and U.S. pension plans. Also included in 2006
results was a gain of $1.9 million realized from a contrac-
tual settlement related to an AH business disposed in
2004, partially offset by a charge of $1.1 million related
to a prior year contract dispute.

The increase/{decrease} in operating income is summarized as follows:

Corporate/
Pharmaceuticals AP AH Unallocated Total

20065 as reported $ 236 $52.4 $66.3 ${47.5) $ 948
Research and development {18.4) 0.1} (0.2) 1.2 (17.5)
Senior management retention and {ransition,

and performance unit expense, net of

insurance recovery — — — {13.0) (13.0)
Stock option expense, ongoing — — — (2.4} {2.4)
Contract settlements - _ 0.8 — 08
Pension curtailment gain/{loss) — 7.8 — {0.3} 75
Net margin improvement (decrease) due to

volume, price, foreign exchange and expenses 231 (8.3) 4.6 6.0 254
2006 as reported $283 $51.8 $715 $(56.0) $ 95.6

Interest Income/(Expense), Net

The Company reported net interest income of $16.5
miflion for the year ended December 31, 20086, com-
pared to net interest expense of $47.8 million in the
comparable period last year. The change reflects the
repayment of all cutstanding debt in the first quarter
of 2006 using proceeds from the sale of the Generics
Business and ParMed and the cash flow generated
by the Company. An analysis of the components of
interest income (expense), net is as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2006 2005
Interest income $19.3 $ 14
Interest expense {2.5) {47.0}
Amortization of debt issuance costs (0.3) 2.2}

$165 3478

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

Results for the year ended December 31, 2006 included
the payment of a call premium of $18.9 million and
write-offs of deferred loan costs of $0.5 million associ-
ated with the repayment of the Company’s remaining
outstanding long-term debt in January 20086. In the year
ended December 31, 2005, the Company reported a
loss on extinguishment of debt of $8.0 million, primarily
related to the prepayment of $267.4 million of bank
term debt in 2005, which resulted in the write-off of
deferred loan costs.
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Other Income (Expense), Net
A detail of Other income {expense}, net follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2006 2005
Foreign exchange gains (losses), net $03 $28
Qther, net (0.4) 18

${0.1} 347

Provision {Benefit) for Income Taxes

The Company's effective tax rate ("ETR"} is dependent
on many factors including: a.} the impact of enacted tax
laws in jurisdictions in which the Company operates;

b.} the amount of earnings by jurisdiction, due to varying
tax rates in each country; c.) the Company’s ability to
utilize various tax credits; and d.) the estimates of valua-
tion allowances necessary to value deferred tax assets.

The tax provision for continuing operations for the year
ended December 31, 2006 was $32.5 millicn, represent-
ing an effective tax rate of 35%.

Income taxes for 2005 amounted to a benefit of $18.4
million compared to a pre-tax income of $43.8 million.
This benefit was derived from the reversal of valuation
allowance on U.S. deferred tax assets of $52.1 million,
partially offset by income taxes of $28.6 million related
to the repatriation of earnings under the American Jobs
Creation Act.

Results of Continuing Operations 2005 vs. 2004
(All comparisons of results of operations refer
to continuing operations)

Total revenue increased $40.3 million or 7.9% for the
year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 2004,
Foreign exchange increased revenues by approximately
$0.5 million, or 0.1%. 2004 revenues included $26.2
million related to the divested Wynco and Aquatics
operations. Excluding the Wynco and Aguatic results
and foreign exchange, revenues increased approximately
$66.1 million, or 13.5%. Operating income was $94.8
million in 2005 compared to $63.0 million in 2004.
2004 operating income included the results of Wynco
and Aguatics. Excluding these operations, operating
income increased $21.4 million, or 29.2%, due to
improvements in the Pharmaceuticals and AH busi-
nesses which offset lower year-over-year operating
income in APl due to reduced pricing. Diluted earnings
per share was $1.17 in 2005 compared to a loss of $0.90
in 2004. 2005 results include the reversal of a deferred
tax valuation allowance of $52.1 million {$0.98 earnings
per share), taxes of $28.6 million on the repatriation

of cash dividends from contralied foreign corporations
and pre-tax charges of $8.0 million for extinguishment
of debt, primarily related to the write-off of deferred
toan costs resulting from the prepayment of debt.

2004 results include pre-tax charges of approximately
$59.5 million ($1.13 loss per share) resulting from the
establishment of a deferred tax valuation allowance

and $2.8 million for extinguishment of debt.

The following table sets forth revenues and operating income by segment:

Revenues Operating Income (Loss)

Year Ended Decamber 31, 2005 2004 % 2005 2004 %
Pharmaceuticals $1016 % 624 62.8% $ 236 $ 65 263.1%
API 138.4 143.2 (3.4%} 52.4 72.8 {28.0%)
AH 3251 288.4 12.7% 66.3 35.2 88.4%
Aquatic AH — 7.0 N/M — (10.3) NfM
Wynco — 19.2 N/M — o.h N/M
Total AH 3251 31486 3.3% 66.3 24.8 167.3%
Unallocated and Eliminations {11.5) (6.9) (66.7%) {47.5) (41.1) {16.6%)
Total $553.6 $613.3 7.9% $948 $ 63.0 50.5%

N/M—Not meaningiul
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The following summarizes revenues and operating
income by segment:

Revenues

Pharmaceuticals revenues increased 62.8% on higher
prices (24.2%) and volume gains {38.5%]) attributable
to product prescription growth driven from sales force
expansions and a new marketing campaign.

Revenues in APl declined 3.4% mainly as a result of
reduced pricing {11.9%]), principally cn a major product
in the U.S. partially offset by volume gains of 9.0%.
Translation of revenues into the U.S. dollar decreased
APl revenues by 0.5%.

AH revenues, excluding Wynco and Aquatic revenues
in 2004, increased 12.7% due primarily to increased
sales in the LS. livestock market {7.8%) and in the
European markets (2.0%). The majerity of AH plants
are operating at or near capacity. During the year, as a
result of increased demand and capacity constraints,
AH reduced supply of certain products to customers.

Gross Profit

On a Company-wide basis, gross profit increased $41.6
million in 2005 compared to 2004. As a percentage of
sales, overall gross profit was 60.7% in 2005, versus
57.4% in 2004.

The increase in gross margin dollars results primarily
from higher sales volumes in Pharmaceuticals and AH,
combined with cost reductions achieved through supply
chain and other process improvement initiatives, offset
partially, by pricing decreases in API.

Operating Income {Loss)

Selling, General and

Administrative Expenses (SG&A)

On a consolidated basis, selling, general and adminis-
trative expenses increased $18.3 million or 9.4%, in
2005 compared to 2004. Included in 2004, are Wynco
and Agquatic expenses of $3.3 million and $2.1 million,
respectively. Excluding these costs, selling, general
and administrative expenses increased $23.7 million
due primarily to marketing campaigns and sales force
expansions within Pharmaceuticals ($15.0 million} and
increased costs within the Pharmaceuticals and API
segments related to realigning the remaining busi-
nesses as a result of the disposal of the Generics Busi-
ness {$5.3 million). Foreign exchange also contributed
$1.1 million to the year-over-year increase in selling,
general and administrative expenses.

Research and Development (R&D)

Research and development expenses increased $1.5
million in 2006 compared to 2004, which included
Aguatic expenses of $2.4 million. Excluding these
costs, research and development increased $3.9
million, due primarily to new product development

in Pharmaceuticals and API.

Asset Impairments and Other

2005 asset impairments and other was $1.2 million
compared to 2004 asset impairments of $11.1 million,
which included a $10.0 million charge to write down the
carrying value of Aguatic assets to fair value, as well as
an associated pension curtailment loss and other costs
associated with the sale, and severance charges of $1.1
million, prirnarily incurred in AP

The increase/{decrease} in operating income is summarized as follows:

Corporate/

Pharmaceuticals AP AH Unallocated Total

2004 as reported $ 65 $728 $248 $i41.1) $63.0

Agquatic loss, primarily asset impairment — — 10.0 — 10.0

Research and development (2.4) (2.1 3.7 0.7 {(t.5)

Pharmaceuticals sales force expansion (15.0 - — — (15.0}
Net margin improvement (decrease) due to

volurne, price, foreign exchange and expenses 345 (18.3) 278 8.7} 383

2005 as reported $ 236 §$524 $66.3 $(47.5) $948
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Interest Income/{Expense), net

The Company reported net interest expense of $47.8
million the year of 2005 compared to net interest expense
of $58.0 million in 2004. An analysis of the components
of interest income {expense), net is, as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2005 2004
Interest income $ 14 $ 07
Interest expense 47.0) (56.0)
Amortization of debt issuance costs 2.2) (2.7}

$(478) $58.0)

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

2006 results include $8.0 million of expense, which
resulted primarily from the write-off of deferred loan
costs. In 2005, the Company prepaid $267.4 million of
bank term debt. 2004 results include $2.8 million of
expense associated with the write-off of deferred loan
costs. In 2004, the Company prepaid $75.0 million of
bank term debt, $32.0 million of mortgage notes pay-
able, and $24.5 million of the 5.75% convertible Noties.

Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income/(expensel, net is detailed as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2005 2004

Other income/f{expense), net:
Foreign exchange gains (lossaes), net $ 28 § 18
Loss on sale of Wynco — (1.5)
Other, net 19 0.4
$ 47 $ 05

Provision {Benefit) for Income Taxes

Income taxes for 2005 amounted to a benefit of $18.4
million compared to pre-tax income of $43.8 million.
The net tax benefit is primarily attributable to the
removal of a valuation allowance for net U.S. deferred
tax assets, offset partially by tax expense of $28.6
million, resulting from repatriating cash in 2005 under
the American Jobs Creation Act. The tax provision in
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2004 was an expense of $49.5 million compared to
pre-tax income of $2.7 million, resulting mainly from
the establishment of a valuation allowance for net
U.S. deferred tax assets.

Deferred tax assets are evaluated quarterly to assess
the likelihood of realization which is ultimately depen-
dent upon generating future taxable income prior to
the expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards.
At December 31, 2004, the Company had recorded
significant U.S. federal deferred tax assets for which it
had provided a full valuation allowance given that it was
not considered to be “more likely than not” that these
deferred tax assets would be realized. At December 31,
2005, the Company made the decision to reverse the
remaining valuation allowance because it believed that
it was "more likely than not” that these assets would
be realized. The Company’s cash flow generated
throughout 2005, including the net proceeds from the
sale of the Generics Business, enabled the Company
to pay off all of its domestic debt by January 23, 2006
which in turn, eliminated related interest expense,
thereby increasing future profitability. In addition, it
was expected that the ¢continuing domestic business
segments, which had been profitable for the past
three years, would continue to be profitable.

Discontinued Operations

On December 19, 2005, the Company sold its
world-wide human Generics pharmaceutical business
{the “Generics Business”), excluding ParMed Pharma-
ceuticals Inc. ("ParMed"), its Generics pharmaceutical
telemarketing distribution unit, to Actavis Group hf
("Actavis”) for cash in the amount of $810 million. The
net cash proceeds from this sale were used to repay all
of the Company’s outstanding debt, which amounted to
$416.7 million at Decernber 31, 2005. On March 31,
20086, the Company sold ParMed for cash in the amount
of $40.1 million. After completing both of these sales,
the Company had no debt and cash and cash equiva-
lents at March 31, 2006, amounting to $366.4 million.




The results of operations of the Generics Business and
ParMed (collectively, the “Discontinued Operations”),
for the three years ended December 31, 2006, 2005,
and 2004 and the financial position of the Discontinued
Operations at December 31, 2006 and 2005, are sum-
marized as follows;

Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 20086 2005 2004
Total revenues $17.1 %8702 $826.1

Cost of sales 120 580.7 587.7
Gross profit 5.1 289.5 2384

Qperating expenseas 28 244.9 524.6
Operating income 2.3 44 6 {286.2)
Interest expense and

amortization of debt

issuance cost — (0.4) 0.3)
Other income {expense}, net — 23 30.2
Income {loss} from

discontinued operations

before provision for

income taxes 23 46.5 {256.3)
Provision for income taxes 0.8 10.2 1.7
Net income {loss) from

discontinued operations $15 § 363 $(268.0)

There were no assets and liabilities of discontinued
operations at December 31, 2006 and, at December 31,
2005, the assets and liabilities of discontinued opera-
tions consisted of solely ParMed assets {($17.5 million}
and liabilities {$12.1 million} held for sale at that time.

Results in 2006 include only the results of operations
of ParMed for the three months ended March 31, 20086,
prior to its sale on March 31, 2006.

The Discontinued Operations reported revenues of
$870.2 million and $826.1 million in 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Gross profit margins improved to 33.3%
in 2005, from 28.9% in 2004, primarily a result of
increased sales of gabapentin in the U.S. Generics
business and costs reductions achieved in the Generics
Business through supply chain and other process
improvement initiatives. In 2005, the Discontinued

Operations reported operating income of $44.6 million
compared with an operating loss of $286.2 million in
2004. The 2004 operating loss was principally attribut-
able to a $260 million goodwill impairment charge and
a $15.5 million facility impairment charge recorded in
the U.S. Generics business in 2004, During the fourth
quarter of 2004, a number of factors emerged which
impacted the estimated future cash flows of the U.S.
Generics business. These factors included recent expe-
rience with new product launches for which pricing was
significantly below previous expectations; reflecting
increasing competition, including authorized Generics.
As a result, during the fourth quarter of 2004, estimates
for new product launches and the future profitability of
the U.S. Generics business were adjusted downward,
resulting in declines in projected cash flows and indica-
tions of an impairment of the goodwill attributable to
the U.S. Generics business. Based upon preliminary
Staterment of Financia! Accounting Standards (“SFAS™)
No. 142 step two valuation work performed by an inde-
pendent vafuation firm, the Company estimated and
recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $260 million in
the fourth quarter of 2004. The SFAS No. 142 step two
valuation work was finalized in the first quarter of 2005,
and the Company recorded an adjustment of $0.8 mil-
lion in the first quarter of 2005, increasing the total U.5.
Generics goodwill impairment charge to $260.8 million.

Inflation
The effect of inflation on the Company's operations
during 2008, 2005 and 2004 was not significant.

Critical Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements are presented

on the basis of accounting principles that are generally
accepted in the United States of America. All professional
accounting standards that are effective as of December
31, 2006, have been taken into consideration in prepar-
ing the consolidated financial statements. The Company
has chosen to highlight certain policies, which include
estimates that it considers critical to the operations of
the business and its consolidated financial statements:
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Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when title to products and risk
of loss are transferred to customers. The Company's
subsidiaries have terms of FOB shipping point where
title and risk of loss transfer on shipment. Additional
conditions for recognition of revenue are that collection
of sales proceeds is reasonably assured and the Com-
pany has no further performance obligations.

In the Company’s Pharmaceuticals and AH businesses,
sales to certain customers require that the business
remit discounts to either customers or governmental
authorities in the form of rebates, discounts, promo-
tional allowances, and other managed-care allowances.
In addition, sales are generally made with limited right
of return under certain circumstances.

Provisions for these discounts are reflected in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations as a reduction
of total revenues and amounted to $47.1 million and
$38.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2005, respectively. Accruals related 1o these provi-
sions are reflected on the balance sheet and classified
as either a direct reduction of accounts receivable or, to
the extent that amounts are due to entities other than
customers, as accrued expenses. The reserve balances
related to these provisions included in Accounts receiv-
able, net amounted to $6.6 million and $7.5 million at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The amounts
included in Accrued expenses amounted 1o $17.6 mil-
lion and $13.5 million, at December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The most significant of these reserves
relates to Medicaid accruals that are recorded as
accrued expenses and estimated based upon experi-
ence within each state and infermation obtained from
wholesalers regarding inventory tevels. In the case of
Medicaid accruals and all other reserves for discounts,
the Company continually monitors the adequacy of
procedures used to estimate these deductions from
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revenue by comparison of estimated amounts to actual
experience. Operating results in 2006 were favorably
impacted by $0.7 million in adjustments to prior year
reserve balances.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The values assigned to goodwill and intangibles, as well
as their related useful lives, are subject to judgment and
estimation by the Company. In 2002, upon adoption of
SFAS No. 142, the Company ceased amortization of
goodwill and periodically reviews goodwill far impairment.

Goodwill and intangibles related to acquisitions are
determined based on purchase price allocations. These
allocations, including an assessment of estimated use-
ful lives, have generally been performed by qualified
independent appraisers using reascnable valuation
methodologies. Valuation of intangible assets is gener-
ally based on the estimated cash flows related to those
assets, while the value assigned to goodwill is the
residual of the purchase price over the fair value of all
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
Useful lives are determined based on the expected
future period of benefit of the asset, the assessment
of which considers various characteristics of the asset,
including historical cash flows.

Asset Impairments

Long-lived assets, including plant and equipment, and
other intangible assets are reviewed for impairment
when events or circurnstances indicate that a dirminu-
tion in value may have occurred, based on a comparison
of undiscounted future cash flows to the carrying
amount of the intangible asset. if the carrying amount
exceeds undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment
charge is recorded based on the difference between
the carrying amount of the asset and its fair value.
Goodwill is reviewed periodically for impairment in
accordance with SFAS No. 142,




The assessment of potential impairment for a particular
asset or set of assets requires certain judgments and
estimates by the Company, including the determination
of an event indicating impairment; the future cash flows
to be generated by the asset, including the estimated
life of the asset and likelihood of alternative courses of
action; the risk associated with those cash flows; and the
Company's cost of capital or discount rate to be utilized.

Research and Development (“R&D"},
Including In-Process R&D (“IPR&D")

The Company's products are subject to regulation by
governmental authorities, principally the Food and Drug
Administration {(“FDA"} in the United States and equiva-
lent authorities in international markets. Research and
development expenses are charged to the consclidated
statement of operations when incurred, as the Company
considers that regulatory and other uncertainties inher-
ent in the development of new praducts preclude it from
capitalizing development costs.

With respect to completed acquisitions, acquired prod-
ucts or projects which have achieved technical feasibil-
ity, signified by FDA ar comparable regulatory body
approval, are capitalized as intangible assets because it
is probable that the costs will give rise to future eco-
nomic benefits. Estimates of the values of these intan-
gible assets are subject to the estimation process
described in "Goodwill and Intangible Assets” abave.

Acquired products or projects which have not achieved
technica! feasibility (i.e., regulatory approval} are charged
to the statement of operations on the date of acquisition.
In connection with its acquisitions, the Company gener-
ally utilizes independent appraisers in the determination
of IPR&D charges. The amount of this charge is deter-
mined based on a variety of factors including the esti-
mated future cash flows of the product or project, the
likelihood of future benefit from the product or project,
and the level of risk associated with future research and
development activities related to the product or project.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market.
Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis for all
inventories. The determination of market value involves
assessment of numerous factors, including costs to dis-
pose of inventory and estimated selling prices. Invento-
ries determined to be damaged, obsolete, or otherwise
unsaleable are written down to net realizable value.

The Company also purchases raw materials, and manu-
factures finished goods, for certain products prior to the
product receiving regutatory approval. The Company
reviews these inventories on a case-by-case basis, and
records a write-down of the inventory if it becomes
probable that regulatory approval will not be cbtained or
the inventory’s cost will not be recoverable based on
other factors.

Employee Benefit Plans

The Company provides a range of benefits to
employees and retired employees, including pension,
post-retirement, post-employment and health care
benefits. The Company records annual amounts relating
to these plans based on calculations, which include
various actuarial assumptions, including discount rates,
assumed rates of return, compensation increases, turn-
over rates, and health care cost and trend rates. The
Company reviews its actuarial assumptions cn an annual
basis and makes modifications to the assumptions based
on current rates, changes in historical experience, and
trends when it is deemed appropriate to do so. Gains
and losses arising from changes in assumptions are
armortized over future periods. The Company believes
that the assumptions utilized for recording its obligations
under its plans are reasonable based an input from
actuaries. In determining pension costs for its U.S.
defined benefit pension plan, the Company used a dis-
count rate of 5.75% in 2006, 6.00% in 2005 and 6.25%
in 2004; an assumed return on plan assets of 8.00% in
both 2006 and 2006 and 8.75% in 2004. The Company
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used an assumed rate of compensation increases of
4.5% for both 2006 and 2005 and 4.25% in 2004. The
changes in these plan assumptions did not have a sig-
nificant impact on net earnings for the years involved.

The Company has two primary defined pensien plans,
one in the U.S. and one in Norway. Effective December
31, 20086, the Company froze these two pension plans;
replacing both with enhanced defined contribution plans.
In connection with the freezing of these plans, the
Company recorded a net pre-tax curtaiiment and
settlement gain, net of special termination benefits,

of $7.5 million in 2006.

Litigation and Contingencies

The Company is subject to litigation in the ordinary
course of business, and also to certain other contin-
gencies {see ltern 3 of this Form 10-K and Note 15 to
the Financial Statements). The Company records legal
fees and other expenses related to litigation and contin-
gencies as incurred. Additionally, the Company assesses,
in consultation with its counsel, the need to record lia-
bility for litigation and contingencies on a case by case
basis. Reserves are recorded when the Company, in
consultation with counsel, determines that a loss related
to a matter is both probable and reasonably estimable.

Income Taxes

The Company applies an asset and liability approach to
accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax liabilities and
assets are recognized for the expected future tax conse-
quences of temporary differences between the financial
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statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using
enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the dif-
ferences are expected to reverse. The recoverability of
deferred tax assets is dependent upon the Company's
assessment that it is more likely than not that sufficient
future taxable income will be generated in the refevant
tax jurisdiction to utilize the deferred tax asset. In the
event the Company determines that future taxable
income will not be sufficient to utilize the deferred tax
asset, a valuation allowance is recorded.

Deferred tax assets are evaluated quarterly to assess
the likelihood of realization, which is ultimately depen-
dent upon generating future taxable income prior to the
expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards. At
December 31, 2004, the Company had recorded sig-
nificant U.S. federat deferred tax assets for which it

had provided a full valuation allowance given that it was
not considered to be “more ltikely than not” that these
deferred tax assets would be realized. At December 31,
2005, the Company made the decision to reverse the
remaining valuation allowance because it believed that
it was “more fikely than not” that these assets would be
realized. The Company’s cash flow generated through-
out 2005, including the net proceeds from the sale of
the Generics Business, enabled the Company to pay off
all of its domestic debt by January 23, 2006 which in
turn, eliminated related interest expense, thereby
increasing future profitability. In addition, it is expected
that the continuing domestic business segments, which
have been profitable, will continue to be profitable.




Liquidity and Capital Resources

At Pecember 31, 2006, the Company had $113.2 million
in cash and cash equivalents no dehbt outstanding. Inter-
est income earned on investments was $19.3 million for
the twelve months of 2006 and is included in Interest
income {expense), net in the Consolidated Statements
of Operations,

Cash flow provided by operating activities for the year
ended Pecember 31, 2006 was $42.9 million compared
to $247.3 million provided from operations in 2005. Dur-
ing 2006, the Company paid cash taxes of $64.4 mil-
lion, inctuding approximately $30 million in cennection
with the Company's Generics business, and additional
cash payments of approximately $25 million related to
the settlement of accrued expenses associated with
the Generics Business disposition. Cash provided by
operating activities in 2005 includes the cash flows of
the divested Generics Business.

Cash provided by investing activities for 2006 included
the proceeds from the sale of ParMed of $40.1 million
and, in 2005, the net proceeds from the sale of the
Generics Business of $804.4 million. Capital expendi-
tures amounied to $36.2 million in 2006, $38.9 million in
2005 and $49.3 million in 2004. Cash from investing
activities includes cash flows of discontinued operations.

The cash used in financing activities for the year ended
December 31, 2006 amounted to $732.8 million com-
pared with $302.6 million in 2005. The use of funds

in 2006 included $436.3 million related to the repay-
ment of debt, including a call premium of $18.9 million.
Also included in the use of funds in 2006 was the
repurchase of all the Class B shares for $307.4 million,
Financing activities in 2005 included $311.8 million of
debt repayments.

Working capital, including cash and cash equivalents, at
December 31, 2006, was $138.0 million compared to
working capital of $371.8 million at December 31, 2005.
Working capital is defined as current assets less current
liabilities. Working capital at December 31, 2005
included the henefit of the cash proceeds from the sale
of the Generics Business which was partially offset by
the anticipated payment of all outstanding debt, which
was classified as current liabilities at December 31,
2005. The decline in working capital fromn December
31, 2005 to 2006 is principally attributable to the fourth
quarter 2006 Class B share repurchase for $307.4
miillion including related fees. Trade working capital
{accounts receivable and inventories, less accounts pay-
able and accrued expenses) was higher at December
31, 2006 than 2005 because of increased receivables
and inventory related to business growth and the settle-
ment of December 31, 2005 tax and other liabilities
related 1o the sale of the Generics Business.

Stockholders’ Equity at December 31, 2006 was $724.0
million compared to $918.1 million at December 31,
2005. The decrease in Stockholders’ Equity in 2006
resulted primarily from the repurchase of B shares as
treasury stock at a cost of $307.4 million partially offset
by this year's net earnings, including the gain con the
sale of ParMed. At December 31, 2006, due primarily to
the cumulative weakening of the U.S. dollar against
many other currencies, the Company reported Accumu-
lated Other Comprehensive Income of $58.2 million
compared to $47.9 million at December 31, 2005.
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management’s discussion and analysis of financial conditions
and results of operations {In millions, except per share data)

{continued)

Contractual Obligations
At December 31, 2006, the Company’s contractual cash obligations (in millions) can be summarized as follows:

Less than 2-3 4-5 More than
Contractual Cash Commitments Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Operating leases $ 231 £ 40 $ 51 $ 42 $9.8
Purchase obligations 170.0 80.6 59.2 30.2 —
Total contractual cash commitments $193.1 $84.6 $64.3 $34.4 $9.8

Under the terms of certain business and product acquisition agreements, the Company may be required to make
additional payments in future years upon the occurrence of specified events. Additionally, the Company has a num-
ber of conditional supply agreements which obligate the Company to purchase products or services from vendors
based on Company forecasts which are updated on a regular basis and at prices subject to negotiation and change.
Certain of the supply agreements may require minimum payments under certain circumstances if minimum quantities
are not purchased. See Note 15 to the financial statements for additional information.
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quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risks

The Company's earnings and cash flow are subject

to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates. The Company's risk
management practice includes the selective use, on a
limited basis, of forward foreign currency exchange
contracts. Such instruments are used for purposes
other than trading.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Foreign currency exchange rate movements create
fluctuations in U.S. Dollar reported amounts of foreign
subsidiaries whose local currencies are their respective
functional currencies. The Company has not used foreign
currency derivative instruments to manage translation
fluctuations. The Company and its respective subsidiar-
ies primarily use forward foreign exchange contracts to
hedge certain cash flows denominated in currencies
other than the subsidiary’s functional currency. Such
cash flows are normally represented by actual receiv-
ables and payables and anticipated receivables and
payables for which there is a firm commitment.

At December 31, 2006, the Company had forward for-
eign exchange contracts nainly denominated in Euros,
Danish Krones, Hungarian Forints and U.S. Dollars with
a notional amount of $74.9 million. The fair market value
of such contracts has been recognized in the financial
statements and is not material. All contracts expire in
the first quarter of 2007. The cash flows expected from
the contracts will generally offset the cash flows of
related non-functional currency transactions. The
change in value of the foreign currency forward con-
tracts resulting from a 10% movement in foreign cur-
rency exchange rates would be less than $10 millicn
and generally would be offset by the change in value of
the hedged receivable or payable. Such contracts are
not designated hedges for accounting purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

Alpharma'’s interest rate risk relates primarily to the
asset-based $75 million Senior Secured Credit Facility,
which has variable interest rates which reset on a
pericdic basis. At December 31, 2006, there were

no amounts outstanding under the Senior Secured
Credit Facility.
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consoclidated balance sheets (i mousands, except per share data)

December 31,

2006 2005
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 113,163 $ 800,010
Accounts receivable, net 107,847 90,898
Inventories 106,958 92,741
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 25,573 41,575
Assets of discontinued operations — 11,823
Total current assets 353,541 1,037,047
Property, plant & equipment, net 233,447 215,174
Goodwill 117,655 116,747
Intangible assets, net 160,922 176,083
Other assets and deferred charges 61,674 72,609
Assets of discontinued operations - 5,723
Total assets $ 927,239 $1,623,383
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Short-term debt $ — $ 35713
Current portion of long-term debt - 380,956
Accounts payable 50,180 35,360
Accrued expenses 96,303 140,381
Accrued and deferred income taxes 9,090 61,251
Liabilities of discontinued operations —_ 11,596
Total current liabilities 155,673 665,257
Long-term debt
Deferred income taxes 27,885 18,468
Other non-current liabilities 19,782 21,123
Liabilities of discontinued aperations — 457
Total non-current liabilities 47,667 40,048
Commitments and contingencies {see Note 15}
Stockholders' equity:
Class A common stock, $.20 par value {authorized 75,000,000;
issued 43,427,596 and 43,098,938 outstanding) 8,685 8,507
Class B common stock, $.20 par value (authorized 15,000,000;
issued 11,872,897} 2,375 2,375
Preferred Stock, $1 par value (authorized 500,000} — —
Additional paid in capital 1,117,717 1,095,520
Unearned compensation — (5,395)
Accumulated deficit {147,977) (223,137)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 58,240 47,852
Treasury stock, at cost {315,041} {7,644}
Total stockholders' equity 723,999 918,078
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 927,239 $1,623,383

‘ See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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consolidated statements of Operations {In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Total revenues $653,828 $553,617 $ 513,329
Cost of sales 271,988 217,363 218,712
Gross profit 381,840 336,254 294,617
Selling, general and administrative expenses 250,069 213,323 195,054
Research and development 44,430 26,936 25431
Asset impairments and other (income} expense {8.259) 1,184 11,110
Operating income 95,600 94,811 63,022
Interest income (expense), net 16,453 (47,750} (57,982)
{Loss} on extinguishment of debt {19,415) {7,989} (2.795)
Other income {expense}, net (129) 4,706 458
Income {loss) from continuing operations before provision for income taxes 92,509 43,778 2,703
Provision {benefit) for income taxes 32,517 (18,398) 49,466
Income (loss) from continuing operations 59,992 62,176 {46,763}
Discontinued operations, net of taxes: (Note 3)
income {loss) from discontinued operations 1,531 36,334 (267,974)
Gain from disposals 21,021 35,259 —
Income {loss} from discontinued operations 22,552 71,593 (267,974)
Net income [loss) $ 82544 $133,769 ${(314,737)
Earnings (loss} per common share:
Basic
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 112 ¢$ 118 $  (0.90)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations $ 042 § 137 § (515
Net income {loss) $ 154 ¢ 255 $ (6.05)
Diluted
Income {loss) from continuing operations $ 111§ 117 & (0.90)
Income {loss) from discontinued operations $ 041 $ 135 $§ (515
Net income (loss) $ 152 $ 25 % (6.05

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity ¢n imousands)

Cammon Additional
Stock Paid-In Capital
Balance, December 31, 2003 $10,467 $1,059,104
Comprehensive income:
Net loss—2004
Currency translation adjustment
Minimum pension liability, net
Unrealized gains on derivative contracts, net
Total comprehensive net income
Dividends declared ($.18 per common share)
Award of, and changes in, restricted stock 78 7,765
Amortization of restricted shares
Exercise of stock options {Class A) and other 28 2,585
Employee stock purchase plan 58 4,467
Balance, December 31, 2004 $10,631 $1,073,921
Comprehensive income;
Net income—2005
Currency translation adjustment
Recognition of currency translation on sale of Generics business
Minimum pension liability, net
Total comprehensive net income
Dividends declared ($.18 per common share)
Award of, and changes in, restricted stock 79 4,793
Amortization of restricted shares
Modification of restricted stock 2,349
Modification of stock options 3,271
Tax benefit realized from stock option plan 1.818
Exercise of stock options (Class A} 120 4,897
Employee stock purchase plan 52 4,37
Balance, December 31, 2005 $10,882 $1,095,520
Comprehensive income;
Net income —2006
Currency translation adjustment
Minimum pension liability, net
Unrecognized loss on pensions (SFAS 158), net
Total comprehensive net income
Dividends declared {$.14 per common share}
Stock option expense 2,383
Award of, and changes in, restricted stock, incleding amortization (36) 2,461
Modification of restricted stock 193
Modification of stock options 288
Tax benefit realized from stock option plan 3,757
Elimination of minimum pension liability, net {SFAS 158}
Exercise of stock options (Class A} 197 16,408
Employee stock purchase plan 17 2,102
Reclass for change in accounting presentation (5,395)
Repurchase of B shares — —
Balance, December 31, 2006 $11,060 $1,117,717

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Unearned Accumulated Other Retained Treasury Total
Compensation Comprehensive Income {Loss) Earnings {Deficit} Stock Stockholders’ Equity

$(2,667} $ 94,531 $ (23,284) $ (7.415) $1,130,736

(314,737) (314,737)

64,834 64,834
283 283
1,954 1,854
(247,666)

(9,404) {9,404)

{7,843) —
3,067 3,067
(229) 2,384

— — — — 4,525

$(7.443) £161,602 $(347,425) $ (7,644) $ 883,642

133,769 133,768

{60,553) (60,553)
{48,958) (48,958)
{4,239} {4,239}

20,018

(9,481) (9,481)

{4.872) -
4,320 4,320
2,600 4,949
3,271

1,818

5,117

— — — — 4,423

$(5,395) $ 47,852 $(223,137) $ (7.644) $ 918,078

82,544 82,544

8,714 8714
292 292
(2,565) (2,565)

88,985

(7,384} (7,384)

2,383

2,425

193

288

3,787

3,047 3,947

16,605

2,119

5,395 —
— — — {307,397} (307.397)

$ — $ 58,240 $(147,977) $(315,041) $ 723,999
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consolidated statements of cash flows (i mousands)

Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 82544 $133,769 $(314,737)
Adjustments to reconcile net income {loss} to net cash provided
by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 45,750 91,194 96,403
Interest accretion on convertible debt 754 7,055 6,572
Amortization of loan costs 250 2,168 2,736
Amortization of restricted stock and stock options 4,844 4,320 3.067
Loss on extinguishment of debt 19,415 7,989 2,795
Net gain on pension curtailment (7.542) — —
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations (21,021 {35,259 —
Deferred income taxes 28,922 (38,070} 31,144
Cther non-cash items 339 3,447 302,141
Change in assets and liabilities:
{Increase) decrease in accounts receivable {13,265} 9,210 25,908
{Increase} decrease in inventory {10,804) 71,793 (529)
Decrease {increase) in prepaid expenses and other current assets 16,024 {15,689) 11,584
{Decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses {36,158) (28.432} {5,259)
(Decrease) increase in taxes payable {57,439} 32,128 8,319
Other, net (9,680} 1,658 16,018
Net cash provided by operating activities 42,933 247,281 186,162
Investing activities:
Capital expenditures (36,171} (38,939} {49,306}
Purchase of intangibles (2,880} (5.159) {1.787)
Proceeds from sale of property 1,100 — —
Purchase of businesses (1.089) — (12,857)
Proceeds from sales of businesses 40,100 804,421 21,400
Net cash provided (used} in investing activities 1,060 760,323 {42.550)
Financing activities:
Net advances (payments) under lines of eredit (35.715) 19,636 6,578
Purchase of Class B shares (307,397) — —
Payment of call premium {18,894) — —
Proceeds of senior long-term debt — — 25,000
Payment of senior long-term debt {381,702) (311,836) {154,264)
(Decreaselfincrease in book overdraft {1,691} (12,318) 19,992
Dividends paid {9,840) (9,481) (9,404)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 18,724 9,540 6,908
Tax benefits realized from stock option plans 3,757 1,818 —
Net cash used in financing activities (732,758} (302,641} (105,189)
Net cash flows from exchange rate changes 1,730 (9,977) 8,166
Increase (decrease} in cash and cash equivalents {687,035) 694,986 46,589
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 800,198 105,212 58,623
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 113,163 $800,198* $105212

*Includes cash of $188 included within Assets of discontinued operations.
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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notes to consolidated financial statements i tousands, except share data)

1. The Company

Alpharma Inc. and Subsidiaries, {the “Company”}is a
glabal specialty pharmaceutical company that develops,
manufactures and markets pharmaceutical products for
humans and animals.

In 1994, the Company acquired the pharmaceutical,
animal health, bulk antibiotic and aquatic animal health
business (“Alpharma Oslo") of A. L. Industrier ASA
{"“A.L. Industrier”). Until December 28, 2006, A.L.
industrier ASA (“Industrier” or "ALI"} beneficially
owned all of the outstanding shares of the Company's
Class B common stock, or approximately 22% of the
Company’s total common stock. Through its ownership
of the Class B common stock, ALl had voting power
that provided it with effective control of the Company.
On Decernber 28, 2008, the Company purchased 100%
of the outstanding shares of the Company's Class B
common stock from Industrier. Including related fees,
the cost of the repurchasing the B shares was $307,397.
Following the Class B share repurchase, control of the
Company rests in the holders of the Class A shares
acting by the majority applicable under Delaware law
and Company’s charter documents. See Note 17.

The Company’s businesses are organized in three
reportable segments, as follows:

Pharmaceuticals {formerly “Branded Pharmaceuticals”}
Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients (“API")
Animal Health ("AH")

Pharmaceuticals markets one branded pharmaceutical
prescription product that is contract manufactured by a
third-party, a pain medication sold under the trademark
KADIAN®,

API develops, manufactures and markets a range of
antibiotic fermentation based, and a chemically synthe-
sized steroid, active pharmaceutical ingredients that are
used, primarily by third parties, in the manufacture of
finished dose pharmaceutical products.

AH develops, registers, manufactures and markets
medicated feed additives (*“MFAs") and water soluble
vitamins type substances for food producing animals;
which include poultry, cattle and swine. In 2004, AH
divested its Aquatic Animal Health business.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
and Other Matters

Basis of Presentation:

The Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consclidated
Statements of Operations have been presented for all
periods to classify as Discontinued Operations, the
Company’s world-wide human Generics pharmaceutical
business (the “Generics Business,” which was sold on
December 19, 2005), and ParMed Pharmaceuticals,

inc. ("ParMed,” which the Company sold on March 31,
2006). See Note 3. Cansistent with Statement of Finan-
cial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 95, “Statement
of Cash Flows,” the Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows have not been reclassified for activities of the
discontinued operations.

Principles of Consolidation:

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the
accounts of the Company and its domestic and inter-
national subsidiaries. The effects of all significant
intercompany transactions have been eliminated.
Certain amounts have been reclassified to conform
with the current year praesentation.

Use of Estimates:

The preparation of financial staterments in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates
and assumptions. The estimates and assumptions affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the dis-
closure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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notes to consolidated financial statements un thousands, except share data)

f{continued)

Cash Equivalents:
Cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments
that have an original maturity of three manths or less.

Accounts Receivable

and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced
amount and do not bear interest. The allowance for
doubtful accounts is the best estimate of the amount
of probable credit losses in existing accounts receiv-
able. The allowance is based on historical write-off
experience, current economic conditions and a review
of individual accounts. Past due balances over 90 days
and over a specified amount are reviewed individually for
collectibility. A specific reserve for individual accounts
is recorded when the Company becomes aware of a
customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations,
such as in the case of bankruptey filings or deterioration
in the customer’s operating results or financial position.
If circumstances related to customers change, esti-
mates of the recoverability of receivables are further
adjusted. Account balances are charged off against the
allowance when it is probable the receivable will not be
recovered. There is no off-balance-sheet credit expo-
sure related to the Company's customers.

Inventories:

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market.
Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis for all
inventories. The determination of market value to com-
pare to cost involves assessment of numerous factors,
including costs to dispose of inventory and estimated
selling prices. Inventory determined to be damaged,
obsolete, or otherwise unsaleable is written down to its
net realizable value.

The Company also purchases raw materials, and manu-
factures finished goods, for certain products prior to the
product receiving regulatory approval. The Company
reviews these inventories on a case-by-case basis, and
records a write-down of the inventory if it becomes
probable that regulatory approval will not be obtained or
the cost of the inventory will not be recoverable based
on cther facters.
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Property, Plant and Equipment:

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost.
Expenditures for additions, major renewals and better-
ments are capitalized, and expenditures for maintenance
and repairs are charged to income as incurred. When
assets are sold or retired, their cost and related accu-
mulated depreciation are removed from the accounts,
with any gain or loss included in net income.

Depreciable assets are reviewed for impairment when-
ever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable based on
projected undiscounted cash flows associated with the
assets. A loss is recognized for the difference between
the fair value and the carrying amount of the assets.
Fair value is determined based upon a market quote, if
available, or is based on valuation techniques.

Interest is capitalized as part of the acquisition cost of
major construction and software development projects.
No interest was capitalized in 2006 because the Com-
pany was in a debt free position. In 2005 and 2004;
$610, and $405 of interest costs were capitalized,
respectively.

Depreciation is computed by the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives which are generally as follows:

Buildings 30-40 years
Building improvements 10-30 years
Machinery and equipment 2-20 years

Goodwill and Intangible Assets:

The Company follows SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets” for all goodwill and intangibles
acquired in business combinations. Under SFAS No. 142,
all goodwill and certain intangibte assets determined to
have indefinite lives are not amortized; but, are tested
for impairment at least annually. Intangible assets with
finite useful lives, such as patents and trademarks, are
amortized over their useful lives, generally 5-20 years,
and reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS
No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal

of Long-Lived Assets.” See Note 9 for additional

detail relating to the Company’s gocdwill and other
intangible assets.




Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions:
The assets and liabilities of the Company's foreign sub-
sidiaries are translated from their respective functional
currencies intg U.S, Dollars at rates in effect at the bal-
ance sheet date. Results of operations are translated
using average rates in effect during the year. Foreign
currency transaction gains and losses are included in
income. Foreign currency translation adjustments are
included in accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) as a separate component of stockholders' equity.
The foreign currency translation adjustment represent-
ing the tax effects associated with long-term intercom-
pany advances to foreign subsidiaries is zero, because
in 2006 there was no such long-term intercompany
debt. The foreign currency translation adjustment for
2005 and 2004 was $275 and ${76]. respectively, rep-
resenting the tax effects associated with long-term
intercompany advances to foreign subsidiaries and
other liabilities.

Derivative Instruments:

The Company uses derivative instruments on a limited
basis, principally to manage its exposures to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The
Company carries its derivative instruments at their fair
value on the balance sheet, recognizing changes in the
fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts in cur-
rent period earnings.

The Company selectively enters into forward foreign
exchange contracts to buy and sell certain cash flows
in non-functionat currencies and hedge certain firm
commitments due in foreign currencies. Forward for-
eign exchange contracts, other than hedges of firm
commitments, are accounted for as foreign currency
transactions and gains or losses are included in income.

Revenue Recognition:

Revenues are recognized when title to products and risk
of loss are transferred to customers. The Company's
subsidiaries have terms of FOB shipping point where
title and risk of loss transfer on shipment. Additional con-
ditions for recognition of revenue are that collection of
sales proceeds is reasonably assured and the Company
has no further performance obligations.

Stock-Based Compensation:

The Company adopted SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based
Payments,” effective January 1, 2006. SFAS 123R
requires the recognition of the fair value of stock-based
compensation in net earnings. Stock-based compensa-
tion consists primarily of incentive stock options and
restricted stock.

Stock options are granted to employees at exercise
prices equal to the fair market value of the Company’s
stock at the dates of grant. Generally, stock options
granted to employees fully vest four years from the
grant date and have a term of 10 years. The Company
recognizes stock-based compensation expense over
the requisite service pericd of the individual grants,
which generally equals the vesting period.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted

for stock options under the intrinsic value method
described in Accounting Principles Board Opinion

No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,”
and related Interpretations. The Company, applying

the intrinsic value method, did not record stock-based
compensation cost in net income because the exercise
price of its stock options equaled the market price of
the underlying stock on the date of grant. The Company
elected to utilize the modified prospective transition
method for adopting SFAS 123R. Under this method,
the provisions of SFAS 123R apply to all awards granted
or medified after the date of adoption. In addition, the
unrecognized expense of awards not yet vested at the
date of adoption, determined under the original provi-
sions of SFAS 123, will be recognized in net earnings
in the periods after the date of adoption. The Company
recognized stock-based compensation expense for
stock options for the year ended December 31, 2006 in
the amount of $2,383. The Company also recorded tax
related benefits for the year ended December 31, 2006
in the amount of $834.

SFAS 123R requires the Company to present pro forma
information for periods prior to adoption, as if it had
accounted for all stock-based compensation under the
fair value method of that Statement. For purposes of
pro forma disclosure, the estimated fair value of stock
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notes to consolidated financial statements {In thousands, except share data)

fcontinued)

options at the date of grant is amortized to expense
over the requisite service period, which generally equals
the vesting period. The following table illustrates the
effect on net earnings and earnings per share as if the
Company had applied the fair value recognition provi-
sions of SFAS 123 to its stock-based compensation for
the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31, 2005 2004

Net income (loss}, as reported $133.769 $(314,737)
Add: Stock-based employee

compensation expense included

in reported net income, net of

related tax 4,320 3,067
Deduct: Total stock-based employee

compensation expense deter-

mined under fair value based

method for all awards, net of

related tax effects 8,743 8,206

Pro farma net income (loss} $129,346  $(319,876)

Earnings {loss) per share:

Basic—as reported $ 255 § (6.09)
Basic—pro forma $ 246 § (614
Diluted—as reported $ 252 % (6.09)
Diluted—pro forma $ 244 % (614

The Company estimated the {air value, as of the

date of grant, of options outstanding in the plan using
the Black-5choles option-pricing model, with the
following assumptions:

2006 2005 2004

Expected life (years) 3.6 3.60 4,00
Expected future dividend

yield {average} 0.65% 142% 0.87%
Expected volatility 0.60 0.56 0.58

The risk-free interest rates for 2006, 2005 and 2004
waere based upon U.S. Treasury instrument rates with
maturity approximating the expected term. The weighted-
average interest rate in 2006, 2005 and 2004 amounted
to 4.7%, 3.8% and 3.2%, respectively. The weighted-
average fair value of options granted during the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 with exer-
cise prices equal to fair market value on the date of grant
was $13.81, $6.33 and $9.31, respectively.
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Income Taxes:

The provision for income taxes includes federal, state
and foreign income taxes currently payable and those
deferred because of termporary differences in the basis
of assets and liabilities between amounts recorded for
financial statement and tax purposes. Deferred taxes are
calculated using the liability method as required by SFAS
No. 109 "Accounting for Income Taxes.” A valuation
allowance is established, as needed, tc reduce the carry-
ing value of net deferred tax assets, if realization of such
assets is not considered to be “more likely than not.”

See Note 12 {or additional disclosures regarding adjust-
ment to deferred tax asset valuation reserves and the
tax impact of distributions made under the provisions of
the American Jobs Creation Act.

Comprehensive Income (Loss):

SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income”
requires foregn currency translation adjustments and
certain other items, which were reparted separately in
stockholders’ equity, to be included in Accumulated
Qther Comprehensive Income {Loss). Included within
Accumutated Other Comprehensive Income {Loss} in
20086, are foreign currency translation adjustments and
previously unrecognized actuarial gains and losses as a
result of implementing SFAS No. 158, "Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and other Post-
retirement Plans” (see Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements). Total comprehensive income
(loss) for the years ended 20086, 2005, and 2004 is
included in the Statement of Stockholders' Equity.

The components of accumulated other comprehensive
income {loss} include:

December 31, 2006 2005
Cumulative translation adjustment $60,805 $52,091
Minimum pension liability, net - {4,238}
Prior service credit not yet recognized

in cost 159
Actuarial loss not yet recognized in

cost, net {2,724) —

§58,240  $47,852




Segment Information:

SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information,” requires segment
information to be prepared using the "management”
approach. The management approach is based on the
method that management organizes the segments
within the Company for making operating decisions
and assessing performance. SFAS No. 131 also
requires disclosures about products and services,
geographic areas, and major customers. See Note 21
for further details.

Shipping Costs:

The Company accounts for shipping costs in selling,
general and administrative expenses for purposes of
classification within the Consolidated Statement of
Operations. These costs for continuing operations
waere approximately $15,000, $13,000, and $10,000
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and
2004, respectively.

Software and Development Costs:

In 20086, 2005, and 2004, the Company capitalized
purchased software from third-party vendors and soft-
ware development costs incurred under the provisions
of SOP 98-1, "Accounting for the Cost of Computer
Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.”
Capitalized costs include only (1) external direct costs
of materials and services incurred in developing or
obtaining internal use software, (2} payroll and payroll-
related costs for employees who are directly associated
with and who devote substaniial time to the internal-use
software project, and (3} interest costs incurred, while
developing internal-use software. Amortization begins
as portions of the projects are completed, ready for
their intended purpose and placed in service.

Research and development costs, business process
re-engineering costs, training and computer software
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Software
development costs are being amortized using the
straight-line method over the expected life of the proj-
ects which are estimated to be five to seven years,
depending on when placed in service.

Capitalized software costs related to the Company's
Enterprise Resource Planning System, net of amortiza-
tion, through December 31, 2006 and 2005 amounted
to approximately $7,404 and $9,108, respectively, and
are included in other assets. All significant software
modules were completed and ready for their intended
purpose during 2003.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements:

In June 20086, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation
No. 48 {“FIN 48"), "Accounting for Uncertainty in
Incorne Taxes,” an interpretation of SFAS 109, “"Account-
ing for Income Taxes.” FIN 48 clarifies the accounting
for uncertain tax positions by prescribing a minimum
recognition threshold that a tax position is required to
meet before it is recognized in the financial statements,
FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, mea-
surement, classification, interest and penalties, account-
ing in interim periods, disclosure and transition. For the
Company, FIN 48 will be adopted as of January 1, 2007,
as required. The Company is currently studying the
impact of this interpretation.

In September 20086, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158,
"Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans” which requires employers
to recegnize on their balance sheet, as of December 31,
20086, the funded status of their pension and postretire-
ment benefit plans. At December 31, 2008, the U.S.
pension plans were unfunded by $4,728 of which
approximately $4,615 was included in noncurrent liabili-
ties, $150 in accrued henefit cost and $37 in prepaid
benefit cost. The domestic Postretirement Benefits
plan was unfunded by $6,965 of which approximately
$6,651 was included in noncurrent liabilities and $314
in ¢current liabilities. In addition $3,940 was recognized
in Stockholders Equity’s Accumulated Other Compre-
hensive Income, (32,561 net of tax), representing actu-
arial losses and unamaortized prior service credits. The
international defined benefit pension plans were
unfunded by $6,398 which was included in noncurrent
liabilities.
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3. Discontinued Operations & Other Activities

Sale of the Generics Business

On December 19, 2005, the Company sold its world-
wide human Generics pharmaceutical business (the
“Generics Business”) to Actavis Group hf {"Actavis”}
for cash in the amount of $810,000. The Company
recognized a net after-tax gain of $35,259 in 2005.

Sale of the ParMed Business

On March 31, 2006, the Company completed the sale
of its Generics pharmaceutical telemarketing distribu-
tion business, ParMed Pharmaceuticals Inc. ("ParMed”},
for $40,100 in ¢cash. The net after-tax gain on the sale,
$19,249, is reported in 2006 results from discontinued
operations in the Consolidated Statement of Operations,
along with certain adjustments related to the disposal
of the Generics Business.

The results of operations of the Generics Business and
ParMed (collectively, the “Discontinued Operations”),
for the three years ended December 31, 2006, and the
financial position of the Discontinued Operations at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, are as follows:

Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004
Total revenues $17,142 $870,178 $ 826,151
Cost of sales 12,030 580,683 587,730
Gross profit §,112 289,495 238,421
QOperating expenses 2,756 244,853 524,572

Operating income 2,356 44,642 {286,151}
Interest expense and

amortization of debt

issuance cost —_ {423} {299}
Other income
{expense}, net —_ 2,309 30,149

income (loss} from

discontinued operations

before provision for

income taxes 2,356 46,528 {256,301)
Provision for incame taxes 825 10,194 11,673

Net income (loss) from
discontinued operations $ 1,531 $ 36,334 $(267,974}
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There were no assets and liabilities of discontinued
operations at December 31, 2006. The assets and liabil-
ities of discontinued operations at December 31, 2005,
consisting of ParMed assets and liabilities held for sale
are, as follows:

Balance Sheet

December 31, 2005
Assets of Discontinued Operations
Cash $ 188
Accounts receivable, net 6,797
lnventories 4,727
Cther current assets 111
Total current assets 11,823
Property, plant & equipment, net 2,365
Goodwill, net 3.358

Intangible assets, net —
Other non-current assets -

Total assets $17.546
Liabitities of Discontinued Operations

Account payable $ 56819
Accrued expenses 1,202
Accrued other and deferred income 1ax 4,575
Total current liabilities 11,596
Deferred income taxes 457
Other non-current liabilities —_
Total liakilities $12,083

Other Activities

Acquisition and Disposal

Wynco LLC On January 7, 2004, the Company purchased
the outstanding 50% interest in its joint venture, Wynco,
LLC ("Wynce"), an Animal Health distribution company.
The purchase price was $4,331, approximately $900

of which is payable over three years, beginning on
December 31, 2004. In connection with the acquisition,
the Company assumed debt of approximately $6,677.
The investment was previously recorded in accordance
with the equity method, with the original 50% interest
included in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of




Operations. As of the date of purchase, the Company
consolidated the results of Wynco in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations and included ali related assets
and liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Wynco's
first quarter 2004 revenues and operating losses were
$19.,169 and {$111), respectively. The Company consid-
ered this an immaterial acquisition.

On March 30, 2004, the Company sold its 100%
interest in this distribution company for $17,000. In
connection with the sale, the Company recognized a
charge within other income (expense) of $1,090 related
to an intangible asset previously held. Excluding this
charge, the Company has recognized a loss on the
sale of $433. As part of the transaction, the Company
entered into an Agency and Distribution Agreement
and Logistics Services Agreement with the buyer.
The operations of Wynco are not classified as Discon-
tinued Operations, as the Company and Wynco had
significant continuing invelvernent.

Disposal-Aquatic Animat Health Group

in July 2004, the Company completed the sale of its
Aguatic Animal Health Group ("Aquatic”). This business
was included in the Animal Health segment and manu-
factures and markets vaccines primarily for use in
immunizing farmed fish (principally salmon) worldwide.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” at June
30, 2004 an impairment loss of $9,474 was recognized
in results of operations. in July 2004, the sale was con-
summated. Through December 31, 2004, proceeds

of approximately $4,400 were received and a net loss
of $7,314 was recognized.

The loss did not include a potential “earn out™ which
was contingently payable over three years through 2007,
dependent on Aquatic’s future profitability. In the fourth
quarter of 2006, the Company received $1,922 under
the terms of the earn-out provision, and concurrently
terminated the agreement.

The operations of Aguatic were not classified as discon-
tinued operations since the Company and Aguatic had
significant continuing invelvement. The 2004 loss on the
sale of Aquatics and the 2006 proceeds from the related
earn-out are reported in “Asset Impairments and Other”
in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The results of Aquatic operations included in the Animal
Health segment for the years ended December 31, 2004
included revenues of $7,044 and an Operating Loss,
including impairments of $10,330.

4. Reorganization, Refocus and Other Actions
During the last three years, the Company incurred
severance related to actions in connection with man-
agement’s recrganization and refocus to improve future
operations. These charges are classified as Asset
impairments and other within the Consolidated State-
ments of Operations. The Company has only included
severance related to specific programs. Other severance
charges not related to specific programs are not segre-
gated from normal operations. A summary of severance
charges recorded, by segment, for the last three years,
is as follows:

2006 2005 2004

Severance charges:

API $— § 310 § 823
AH 58 84 300
Corporate —_ 790 —

$58 §$1,184 31123
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A summary of liabilities for severance related actions in cennection with management'’s reorganization and refocus
is, as follows; as well as a summary of other liabilities recorded by the AH segment, which were established for
2002 closure and exit costs, and 2006 and 2005 related activity:

Severance Other Closure and Exit Costs
2006 2005 2006 2005
Balance, January 1, $1,277 $1,666 $ 5410 $ 6,449
Charges, net 58 453 {245} 304
1,335 2,119 5,165 6,753
Payments {809) (675) (1,202) {1,306)
Translation adjustments 42 (167} 1 {37)
Balance December 31, $ 568 $1,277 $ 3974 $ 5410
The liabilities for severance are included in accrued 2006, 2005 and 2004, stock options to purchase
expenses. 641, 1,355 and 1,860 shares, respectively, were not

included in the diluted EPS calculation because the
option price was greater than the average market price
of the Class A common shares. Stock options had an
anti-dilutive effect in 2004 and therefore stock options
to purchase approximately 1,597 shares were not
included in the diluted EPS calculation.

The remaining balances for other closure and exit costs
as of December 31, 2006 are included in accrued
expenses and primarily relate to contractually required
demolition costs, payments related to a discontinued
product, lease obligations and other contractually
committed costs associated with facility closures

announced in 2002. The Company expects to settle The numerator for the calculation of basic EPS is Net
these liabilities in the near future. income {loss) for all periods. The numerater for the
calculation of diluted EPS is Net income (loss) plus an
5. Earnings Per Share {Shares in Thousands) add back for interest expense and debt cost amortiza-
A reconciliation of weighted-average shares gutstanding tion, net of income tax effects, related to the convert-
for basic to diluted shares outstanding used in the cal- ible notes when applicable. The effects of the 5.75%
culation of EPS is, as follows: Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2005 (the 05

Notes”) were not included in the calculation of diluted
EPS for the years ended December 31, 2005 or 2004
because the result was anti-dilutive. On April 1, 2005, the

For the Years Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004

Average shares

outstanding—hasic 53,769 52,526 52,060 ;
Stock options 452 455 _ Company repaid the 05 Notes {$9,752 as of March 31,
A 2005). In addition, the effects of the 3% Convertible

verage shares ) )

outstanding—diluted 54221 520981 52060  oenior Subordinated Notes due 2006 (the 06 Notes”)

waere not included in the caiculation of the diluted EPS for

The amount of dilution attributable to stock options, the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 because
determined by the treasury stock method, depends on the result was anti-dilutive. On January 23, 2006, the
the average market price of the Company's common Company paid off the balance due on the 06 Notes.

stock for each period. For the years ended December 31,
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6. Accounts Receivable, Net
Accounts receivable, net consist of the following:

December 31, 2006 2005
Accounts receivable, trade $ 97,037 §8B2,475
Qther 11,588 9,188
108,625 91,663

Less, allowance for doubtful accounts 778 765
$107,847 $90,898

The allowance for doubtful accounts for the three years
ended December 31, 2006 consists of the following:

2006 2005 2004

Balance at January 1, $765 51,156  $1,642
Provision for doubtful accounts 86 358 (267)
Reduction for accounts
written off 1 (6500 (261)
Transtation and other (74) (199 42
Balance at December 31, $778 $ 765 $1,156
7. Inventories
Inventories consist of the following:
December 31, 2006 2005
Finished product $ 53,283 $49.857
Work-in-progress 37,847 28,061
Raw materials 15,828 14,823
Total $106,958 $92,741
8. Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
Property, plant and equipment, net consists of
the following:
December 31, 2006 2005
Land $ 5562 & 6,096
Buildings and building improvements 101,558 93,573
Machinery and eguipment 323,682 293,883
Construction in-prograss 17,866 6,271
448,668 399,823
Less, accumulated depreciation 218,221 184,649
£233,447 $215174

In connection with the Company's closing of plant
facilities, the assets representing the fair value of
Animal Health’s Lowell facility, $3,500 as of December
31, 2008, are being held for sale, and are included in
property, plant and equipment.

Construction in-progress prirnarily includes outlays for
equipment and building improvements for the Company’s
APl and Pharmaceuticals businesses. These préjects
are expected to be completed by the end of 2007,

9. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist principally of products rights,
including regulatory and/or marketing approvals by rele-
vant government authorities. Annual intangible asset
amortization expense for the years 2007 through 2011
is currently estimated to be approximately $18,900,
$18,500, $18,600, $18,500 and $17,800, respectively.

Intangible assets and accumulated amortization are
summarized, as follows:

Balance, December 31, 2004 $195,181
Additions 3,297
Amortization {19,693}
Write-off of intangibles on sales and impairments (600}
Translation adjustment (2,102)
Balance, December 31, 2005 176,083
Additions 2,880
Amortization (18,983}
Write-off of intangibles on sales and impairments {367}
Transiation adjustment 1,309
Balance, December 31, 2006 $160,922
Accumulated amaortization, December 31, 2005 $133,623
Accumulated amortization, December 31, 2006 $152,606
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The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill attribut-
able to the Company's reportable segments for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, are as follows:

Pharmaceuticals APl Total
Balance

December 31, 2004 $113,973 $3.196 $117,169
Translation adjustment — (422} {422)
Balance '

December 31, 2005 113,973 2,774 116,747
Additions — 537 537
Translation adjustment — 3N 371
Balance

December 31, 2006 $113,973 $3,682 $117,655

In May 2006, the Company acquired the remaining 80%
of Nippon Dumex for approximately $1,089 resulting in
goodwill of $537.

As required, in the fourth quarter of 20086, the Company
performed the required annual test for impairment. The
assessment was made in conjunction with the budget-
ing and long-range planning by each segment. The
assessment utilized forecasted cash flows discounted
at arate of 10.6%.

10. Long-Term Debt

There was no Long-term debt outstanding at December
31, 2006. At December 31, 2005, the Company had
$220,000 of B.625% Senior Notes, due 2011 (the
“Senior Notes”), $160,948 of 3% Convertible Senior
Subordinated Notes, due 2006 (yield 6.875%) and $25 of
other international debt outstanding; of which $380,956
was classified as current because the Company had
given the Trustees of both the Senior Notes and the 08
Notes natice that it would redeem such notes in January
2006 in accordance with the terms of the respective
note indentures. On January 23, 2006, the Company
paid off the balance due on both notes, including
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principal and accrued interest of $386,251 and call
premium in the amount of $18,894, The call premium
is included in the “Loss on extinguishment of debt”
within the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

On October 26, 2005, the Company entered into a
five-year, Senior Secured Credit Facility with Bank of
America N.A, consisting of a $175,000 asset-based,
revolving loan facility and a $35,000 term loan. The
Company used $113,122 of this facility to repay and
retire the 2001 U.S. Bank Credit Facility in October
2005. The Senior Secured Credit facility was subse-
quently paid down in full in December 2005 with the
proceeds from the sale of the Generics business. The
asset-based, revalving loan availability was reduced to
$75,000 and the term loan was cancelled.

The Senior Secured Credit Facility, which was amended
and restated on March 10, 2006 to reflect the sale of
the Generics Business, is secured by the accounts
receivable, inventory and certain fixed assets of the
U.S. subsidiaries of the Company. The amount that is
available to the Company to be barrowed is determined
monthly based upon the calculation of a Borrowing Base.
As of December 31, 2006, there were no amounts out-
standing under this Facility. The interest rate that the
Company would pay on outstanding amounts is based
upon a spread over LIBOR or Base Rate. The spread
ranges between 1.25% to 2.00% over LIBOR and 0%
to 0.50% over the Base Rate. The determination of the
spread is based upon the amount of availability under
the facility with a lower spread payable based upon
greater availability. As long as the Company does not
have average availability less than $15,000 over a con-
secutive 10 day period, there are no financial covenants.
In the event that the Company were to breach the avail-
ability threshold, the Company would be subject to a
minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of 1:1.




11. Short-Term Debt

Short-term debt consists of borrowings of foreign
operations of $35,713 (30,000 EUR) at December 31,
2005. This amount was borrowed by Alpharma AS, a
subsidiary of the Company, under a three month,
short-term loan facility from DnB NOR Bank ASA. On
January 3, 2006, the Company fully repaid this loan,
including interest.

12. Income Taxes

Domestic and foreign income {loss} before taxes were
$49,683 and $42,828, respactively in 2006, $(10,576}
and $54,354, respectively in 2005 and ${68,763) and
$71,466, respectively in 2004, Taxes on income of for-
eign subsidiaries are provided at the tax rates applicable
to their respective foreign tax jurisdictions. The provision
ibenefit} for income taxes consists of the following:

For the Years Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004
Current
Federal $(6,661) $24333 § 4,246
Foreign 9,643 11,824 18,5620
State 613 2,372 1,805
3595 38529 2257
Deferred
Federal 24,481 (55,8567) 22,151
Foreign 3,596 (1,726) (678)
State 845 656 5,422
28,922 {56,927) 26,895
Provision {benefit) for
income taxes from
continuing operations $32517 §(18,398) $49,466
Provision for
discontinued operations 3.9 10,194 11,673
Provision (benefit} for
income taxes $36.,438 % (8,204) $61,139

A reconciliation of U.S. federal income taxes to the tax
provision for continuing operations, follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004
$32,378 $15322 $§ 946

Statutory U.S. federal
State income tax, net of
federal tax benefit
Lower taxes on foreign
garnings, net (3.852) (8,243)
Tax credits - —
Non-deductibie costs,
principally impairment
of intangibles related to
acquired companies — — 1,962
Section 965 tax on repatriation — 28,564 —
Adjustment io Section 965 tax
on repatriation
Change in valuation allowances —_
Establishment of foreign
valuation allowance
Other, net

1,243 1,968 4,501

{7.467)
{1,108

(1,327} — —
62,121} 59,634

8,766 — —
(4,691) (2,838) {8,802

Tax provision,

continuing operations $32,517 §$(18,398) $48,466

Deferred tax assets {liabilities) are comprised of
the following:

December 31, 2006 2005

Accelerated depreciation and
amortization for income

tax purposes ${(27,780) 3 (24,838)

Deferred loan acquisition costs - 6,370
Difference between inventory
valuation methods used for book
and tax purposes 709 290
Other {31} {4,112)
Gross deferred tax liabilities {27,102)  {22,290)
Accrued habilities and other reserves 15,198 30,686
Pension liabilities 5,700 6,334
Loss carryforwards and tax credits 83.264 24,717
Deferred compensation, including
stock option expense 2,002 —
Other 2,018 1,345
Gross deferred tax assets 108,182 133,082
Deferred tax assets valuation allowance*  (44,557) {49,040}

Net deferred tax assets $ 36,523 § 61,752

*Includes valuation allowance on NOLs and other items.
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Deferred tax assets are evaluated quarterly 10 assess
the likelihood of realization which is ultimately depen-
dent upon generating future taxable income prior to the
expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards, At
December 31, 2004, the Company had recorded signifi-
cant U.S. federal deferred tax assets for which it had
provided a full valuation allowance given that it was not
considered to be “more likely than not” that these
deferred tax assets would be realized. At December 31,
2005, the Company made the decision to reverse the
remaining valuation allowance because it now believes
that it is “mare likely than not” that these assets will be
realized. The Company’s cash flow generated through-
out 2005, including the net proceeds from the sale of
the Generics Business, enabled the Company 1o pay off
all of its domestic debt by January 23, 2006 which in
turn, served to eliminate related interest expense,
thereby increasing future profitability. In addition, it is
expected that the continuing domestic business seg-
ments, which have been profitable for the past three
years, will continue to be profitable,

The Company has state toss carryforwards in several
states which are available to offset future taxable
income. The Company has recognized a deferred tax
asset related to these loss carryforwards. Based on
analysis of current information, which indicates that it

is not more likely than not that the state losses will be
realized, a valuation allowance has heen established of
$21,835 for the tax benefits of these loss carryforwards.

Gross deferred tax liabilities of $3,334 and $3,822 are
included within accrued and deferred income taxes, at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Non-current
deferred income tax fiabilities amount to $27,885 and
$18,468 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Current deferred tax assets are included within prepaid
expenses and other current assets and, net of valuation
allowances, amount to $18,925 and $32,031 at Decem-
ber 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Other assets

and deferred charges include deferred tax assets, net
of valuation allowances, of $48,817 and $52,011 as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The following table summarizes the U.S. federal, state and foreign tax loss and tax credit carryforwards, and the
corresponding valuation allowances, as of December 31, 2006;

Valuation
Description Gross NCL Asset Allowance Expiration
Federal net operating losses $113,173 $39.610 % — 2021 to 2026
State net operating losses 420,073 21,835 21,835 2009 to 2026
Fareign net operating losses 58,848 15,773 15,137 Unlimited
AMT benefit carryforward N/A 543 — Unlimited
Research credit N/A 5,503 5,503 2021 to 2026
Total $83,264 $42,475

Federal income tax returns for all years after 2002 are
still subject to audit by the Internal Revenue Service. The
provisions for unpaid foreign, U.S., federal and state and
local income taxes reflected in the consclidated balance
sheet are adequate to cover assessments which might
result from examinations 1o be made by the respective
tax jurisdictions.
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The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 {the "Act”)
was signed into law on October 22, 2004. The Act pro-
vided for a temporary incentive for U.S. corporations to
repatriate accumulated income earned outside the

U.S. by allowing an 85% dividend-received deduction
far certain dividends from controlled foreign corpora-
tions. At December 31, 2004, the Company had not




determined whether or to what extent it would repatri-
ate any foreign earnings under the Act and therefore did
not accrue any taxes in 2004. In 2005, the Company
repatriated foreign earnings under the Act. The provi-
sion for income taxes in 2005 includes approximately
£28,600 related to this repatriation.

At December 31, 2006 the Company had unremitted
earnings of approximately $30,000 in foreign subsidiaries
for which no provisions for U.S. taxes have been made,
because it is expected that these earnings will be
reinvested indefinitely.

13. Pension Plans and Postretirement Benefits

U.S. (Domestic):

The Company maintains two qualified noncontributory,
defined benefit pension plans covering the majority of
its U.S. {domestic} employees: the Alpharma Inc. Pension
Plan which was frozen effective December 31, 2006 and
the previously frozen Faulding Inc. Pension Plan. The
benefits payable from these plans are based on years of
service and the employee’s highest consecutive five
years compensation during the last ten years of service.
The Company's funding policy is to contribute annually
an amount that can be deducted for federal income

tax purposes. ideally, the Plan assets will approximate
the accumulated benefit obligation (“ABQ"). The plan
assets are held by two custodians and managed by

Benefit Obligations

two investment managers. Plan assets are invested
in equities, government securities and bonds. In
addition, the Company has unfunded supplemental
executive pension plans providing additional benefits
to certain employees.

The Company also has an unfunded postretirement
medical and nominal life insurance plan {"postretire-
ment benefits”) covering certain domestic employees
who were eligible as of January 1, 1993. The plan

has not been extended to any additional employees.
Retired eligible employees are required to make
premium contributions for coverage as if they were
active employees.

The discount rate used in determining the 2008, 2005,
and 2004 post retirement expense was 6.00%, 5.75%
and 6.00%, respectively. The health care cost trend rate
used to determine December 31, 2006 obligation was
8.0% for 2007, declining 0.5% per year until reaching
5.0% for 2013, and remaining tevel thereafter. Assumed
health care cost trend rates do not have a significant
effect on the amounts reported for the heaith care plans.
A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care
cost trend rates would not have a material effect on
the reported amounts.

The Company uses a measurement date of December 31
for its pension plans and other postretirement plans.

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

2006 2005 2006 2005
Change in benefit obligation
Projected henefit abligation at beginning of year $51,909 $48,045 $4,192 $2,967
Service cost 1,807 3,799 139 90
Interest cost 3,031 3.062 441 240
Plan participants’ contributions — — a9 70
Actuarial (gain) loss {2,760) 1,687 2,498 1,192
Benefits paid {2,042) {765} {404) (303}
Plan amendments 88 — e (64}
Curtailment {4,385) (4,485} — —
Special termination benefits amn 566 — —
Projected benefit obligation at end of year $47,959 $51,909 $6,965 $4,192
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The accurnulated benefit obligation for the pension
plans at the end of 2006 and 2005 was $47,959 and
$47.593, respectively.

The accumulated health care cost trend rate used to
measure the accumulated postretirement benefit obliga-
tion at December 31, 2006 was 8.0% grading down

Plan Assets

ratably to 5.0% at 2012. A one-percentage-point
change in the assumed health care cost trend rate
would have had the following effect:

One-percentage-point

Decrease
${818)

Increase

$986

APBO

Pension Benefiis Postretirernent Benefits

2006 2005 2006 2005
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $37,997 $34,091 § — $ —
Aciual return on plan assets 4,260 659 —_ -
Employer contribution 3.016 4,012 305 233
Plan participant contributions — — 99 70
Benefits paid (2,042) {765} {a04) (303)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 843,231 $37,997 s — g —
Employer contributions and benefits paid in the above Target Percentage of Plan

table for the pension plans primarily reflect amounts
contributed directly to, or paid directly from plan assets,
respectively.

The asset allocation for the Faulding Ine. Pensien Plan
was 58% equities and 42% debt securities at the end
of 2006 (Fair Value of Faulding Inc. Pension Plan assets
was $8,126). The asset allocation for the Alpharma Inc,
Pension Plan at the end of 2006 and 2005, and the
target allocation for 2007, by asset category, follows.
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Allocation Assets at Year End

2007* 2006 2005
Asset Category
Equity Securities 75% 82% 73%
Debt Securities 20% 17% 20%
Cash 5% 1% 7%
Other — —_ —_
Total 100% 100% 100%

The investment strategy for pension plan assets is to
invest in a diversified, professionally managed portfolio
of equity and fixed income investments. Equities are
typically selected from the S&P 500 in proportion 1o
the S&P 500's sector weightings. Fixed income invest-
ments consist of government bonds, high quality
corporate bonds and mortgage backed securities.

*As a result of freezing the pension plan on December
31, 2006, the Company is in the process of reevaluat-
ing its target asset allocation for the Alpharma Inc.
Pension Plan.




Funded Status

on the balance sheet at December 31, 20086.

Pension Benefits

The funded status represents the difference between the projected benefit obligation and the fair value of the plan
assets. Below is a reconciliation of the funded status of the benefit plans to the net liability recognized for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. In accordance with SFAS 158, the funded status of the plans was recognized

Postretirement Benefits

2006 2005 2006 2005
Funded status $(4,728) ${13,912) $(6,965) $i4,192)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 8,676 2,208
Unrecognized net transition obligation — 23
Unrecognized prior service cost (benefit) (120) (482)
Net asset/(liability) recognized $(4,728) $ (5,356} $(6,965) ${2,445)

Pension Benefits

Postretirement Benefits

End of Year 2006 2005 2006 2005
Prepaid benefit cost (noncurrent asset) $ 37 $ 609 5 - 5 —
Accrued cost - {5,965) _— (2,445)
Current liabifities (150) — {314) —
Noncurrent liabilities {4,615) — {6,651} —
Additional minimum liability —_ (4,239) —_ —
Accumulated other comprehensive income — 4,239 — —
Net asset/{liability) recognized ${(4,728) $ (5.356) $(6,965) $(2.445)

the following:

Pension Benefits

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31, 2006 and 2005 consist of

Postretirement Benefits

2006 2005 2006 2005
Additional minimurn liability N/A $ {4,239) N/A —
Net actuarial loss $ (73) —_ $ 4,263 —
Net transition obligation — — — —
Prior service cost (benefit) 80 — (323) —
Accumulated other comprehensive income s 7 % (4,239) $ 3,940 5 —
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{continued)

At the end of 2006 and 2005 the projected benefit
obligation, the accumulated benefit obligation and the
fair value of plan assets for pension plans with accumu-
lated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were
as follows:

End of Year 2006 2005
Projected benefit obligation $(39,870) $(51,909
Accumulated benefit obligation (39,870} {47,593)
Fair value of plan assets 35,105 37,997
Unfunded accumulated

benefit obligation $ (4,765) 3% {9,596)

Expected Cash Flows

Information about expected cash flows for the
plans follows:

Employer Contributions

Pension Postretirement
Benefits Benefits
2007 Expected $— $£314

Contributions include benefits expected to be paid from
the Company's assets.

Expected Benefit Payments

2007 $ 1,091 $ 314
2008 1,053 318
2009 1,145 350
2010 1,296 380
2011 1.517 384
2012-2016 11,297 2,305

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

2006 2005 2006 2005
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine obligations
as of December 31:
Discount rate 6.00% 575% 6.00% 5.75%
Expected return on plan assets 8.00% 8.00% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase N/A 4.50% N/A N/A
Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Components of net periodic benefit cost:
Service cost $ 1,807 $3,799 $ 4,645 $ 139 $ 90 $ 78
Interest cost 3,031 3,062 2,977 441 240 192
Expected return on plan assets (3.112) (2,702) {(2.574) — — —
Net amortization of transition obligation — — 6 -— 3 3
Amortization of prior service {credit)/cost (23) (67) (67} {135) {125) {125}
Recognized net actuarial {(gain} loss 308 583 550 441 154 68
Curtailment (gain)/loss (89) (150) — — — —
Settlement (gain)/loss 148 —_ —_ —_ — —
Net periodic benefit cost $ 2,070 $4,525 $ 5,637 $ 886 $ 362 $ 216

Pension Benefits Postretirement Bensfits

2006 2005 2006 2005
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net cost:
Discount rate 5.75% 6.00% 5.75% 6.00%
Expected return on plan assets 8.00% 8.00% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase 4.50% 4.50% N/A NA
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The estimated amounts that will be amortized from
accumulated other comprehensive income into net
periodic benefit cost in 2007 are as follows:

Pension Postretirernent
Net actuariaf loss $10 $317
Net transition obligation — —
Prior service cost {benefit) 8 {135}
Total $18 $182

The assumed health care cost trend rate used to mea-
sure net periodic postretirement benefit cost in 2006
was 9.0%, grading down ratably t0 5.0% in 2010. A
one-percentage-point change in the assumed health
care cost trend rate would have had the following effect
on net periedic cost:

One-percentage-point

Deciease
$(76}

increase

Service cost & Interest cost $93

The expected rate of return on plan assets was deter-
mined by applying the Company’s target asset alloca-
tions o long-term historical rates of return, which are
compared to the current investment management plan.

The Company and its domaestic subsidiaries also have
two defined contribution plans, cne qualified and one
non-qualified, which allow eligible employees to with-
hold a fixed percentage of their salary {(maximurm 25%)])
and provide for a Company match based on service
{maximum 6%]). The Company’s contributions to these
plans were approximately $1,300 in 2006, $2,600 in
2005 and $2,300 in 2004,

The Company has an unfunded benefit for selected
executives {Supplemental Pension Plan) that provides
for the payment of benefits upon retirement or death.
Accrued costs included in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 are $655
and $4,894 respectively. Expense {credit) charged to
operations during the years ended December 31, 20086,
2005, and 2004 was approximately $620, $595, and
£(24), respectively.

International:

The Company's Norwegian subsidiary has a defined
benefit plan which is available to a majority of employ-
ees in Norway. At December 31, 20086, the Company
froze the plan for most of its employees and estab-
lished a defined contribution plan. The assets and
related obligations for those employees were removed
from the books resulting in a net settlernent gain of
$7,764. In addition, the Company has a small unfunded
pension for certain key employees. Pension plan contri-
butions from the Company and the participants are paid
to independent trustees and invested in fixed income
and equity securities in accordance with local practices.
The pension plan information is as follows:

Benefit Obligations

2006 2005
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 37,608 $52,220
Service cost 1,863 3,203
Interest cost 1,837 2,268
Curtailment - {11,384)
Settlement (32,777} —
Actuarial {gainlloss {689} {2,154}
Benefits paid {1,643} {1.472)
Translation adjustment 2,988 {5,073}
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 9,187 $37.608
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{continued)
Plan Assets Net Periodic Cost
2006 2005 2006 2005 2004
Change in plan assets: Components of net periodic
Fair value of plan assets at benefit cost:
beginning of year $ 23930 $27672 Service cost $1,863 $3203 $34580
Actual return on plan assets 1,480 1,587 Interest cost 1,837 2,268 2,463
Employer contributions 2,045 3,442 Expected return on
Benefits paid {969) {950) plan assets (1,480) {1,687) (1,518
Curtailment — (4,702) Amertization of
Settlement (24,737) — transition obligation 38 87 103
Actuarial {gain}/loss (878) (234) Amortization of prior
Translation adjustment 1,918 {2,885} service cost 111 244 266
Fair value of plan assets atend of year $ 2,789 $23,930 Recognized net actuarial loss - 68 303
Net periodic benefit cost $2369 $4283 $5070

2006 2005
Funded slatus $ (6,398) ${13,678)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss — (212}
Unrecognized transitional obligation - 109
Unrecognized prior service cost — 1,206
Additional minimum liability — (635)
Accrued benefit cost
{noncurrent liabilities) $ (6,398) $(13,210}

At the end of 2006 and 2005 the projected benefit obliga-
tion, the accumulated benefit obligation and the fair value
of plan assets for pension pians with accumulated ben-
efit obligation in excess of plan assets were as follows:

End of Year 2006 2005
Projecied benefit obligation $ (9,187) $(37.608)
Accumulated benefit abligation {7.355) {30,510}
Fair value of plan assets 2,789 23,830
Unfunded accumulated

beneiit obligation § (4.566) & (6,580

2006 2005

Weighted-average assumptions

at year-end:
Discount rate 4.4% 4.7%
Expected return on plan assets 5.4% 5.7%
Rate of compensation increase 4.0% 3.5%
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14. Transactions with A.L. Industrier ASA
On December 28, 2006, the Company purchased
100% of the outstanding shares of the Company's
Class B common stock from A.L. Industrier thereby
making them no longer a related party as defined
under the regutations.

In 2003, the Company had an administrative service
agreement whereby the Company provided manage-
ment services to Industrier. The agreement provided
for payment equal to the direct and indirect cost of
providing the services subject to a minimum amount.
Effective January 1, 2004, the Company and Industrier
entered into a new administrative service agreement
whereby the Company provided management services
and rented space to Industrier. The agreement provided
for payment of a fixed yearly fee of approximately $146.
Effective January 1, 2005, the Company and Industrier
entered into a new administrative service agreement
whereby the Company provided limited administrative
services to Industrier. The new agreement replaced and
reduced amounts due under the previous agreement.
The 2005 agreement provided for payment of a fixed
yearly fee of approximately $60.




In connection with the 1994 agreement o purchase
Alpharma Oslo, Industrier retained the ownership of

the Skeyen manufacturing facility and administrative
offices {not including leasehold improvements and
manufacturing equipment) and leases it to the Company.
The Company is required to pay all expenses related to
the operation and maintenance of the facility in addition
to nominat rent. The lease has an initial 20-year term
and is renewable at the then fair rental value at the option
of the Company for four consecutive five year terms.

In 2002, the Company signed a net lease agreement
with Industrier that provides for the leasing of a parking
lot at the Skayen Facility through an initial term of
October 2014 with the possibility of four consecutive
five-year renewal terms. The annual rentat is 2.4 million
Norwegian Kroner {approximately $355 at 2006 average
exchange rates).

As required, the above related party transactions were
approved by the Company's Audit and Corporate Gover-
nance Committee.

15. Contingent Liabilities and Litigation

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings,
of a nature considered normal to its business. It is the
Company’s policy 1o accrue for armounts related to
these legal matters if it is probable that a liability has
been incurred and an amount is reasonably estimable.

In the opinion of the Company, although the outcorme of
any legal proceedings cannot be predicted with cer-
tainty, the ultimate liabitity of the Company in connec-
tion with the following legal proceedings will not have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial posi-
tion but could be material to the results of operations or
cash flows in any one accounting period.

SEC Investigation

In June 2002, the SEC notified the Company that it had
commenced a formal investigation of the circumstances
surrounding the 2000 and 2001 restaternents of its
financial statements. The SEC has engaged in deposi-
tion and document discovery.

Chicken Litter Litigation

The Company is one of multiple defendants that have
been named in several lawsuits which allege that one
of its AH products causes chickens to produce manure
that contains an arsenical compound which, when used
as agricultural fertilizer by chicken farmers, degrades
into inorganic arsenic and causes a variety of diseases
in the plaintiffs (who allegedly live in close proximity to
such farm fields). The Company has provided notice to
its insurance carriers and its primary insurance carriers
have responded by accepting their obligations to defend
or pay the Company's defense costs, subject to reserva-
tion of rights to later reject coverage for these lawsuits.
In addition, cne of the Company’s carriers has filed a
Declaratory Judgment action in state court in which it
has sought a ruling concerning the allocation of its cov-
erage obligations to the Company among the Company's
several insurance carriers and, to the extent the Com-
pany does not have full insurance coverage, 1o the
Company. In addition, this Declaratory Judgment action
requests that the Court rule that certain of the carrier’s
policies provide no coverage because certain policy
exclusions allegedly operate to limit its coverage obliga-
tions under said policies.

In addition to the potential for personal injury damages
o the approximately 175 plaintiffs, the plaintiffs are
asking for punitive damages and requesting that the

Alpharma Inc. and Subsidiaries 2006 Annual Report | page 45




notes to consolidated financial statements (i thousands, except share datar

{eontinued)

Company be enjoined from the future sale of the
product at issue. In September 2008, in the first trial,
which was brought by two plaintiffs, the Circuit Court
of Washington County, Arkansas, Second Division,
entered a jury verdict in favor of the Company. The
plaintiffs are appealing the verdict. The court has ruled
that future trials are on hold pending the outcome of
the appeal. While the Company can give no assurance
of the outcome of these matters, it believes that it will
be able to continue to present credible scientific evi-
dence that its product is not the cause of any injuries
the plaintiffs may have suffered. There is also the possi-
bility of an adverse customer reaction to the allegations
in these lawsuits, as well as additional lawsuits in other
jurisdictions where the product has been sold. World-
wide sales of this product were approximately $23,300
in 2004, $23,100 in 2005 and $22,200 in 2006.

Brazilian Tax Claims

The Company is the subject of tax claims by the Brazil-
ian authorities relating to sales and import taxes which
aggregate approximately $10,000. The claims relate to
the operations of the Company’s AH business in Brazil
since 1999. The Company believes it has meritorious
defenses and intends 1o vigorously defend its position
against these claims.

European Environmental Regulations

During 2005, the environmental authorities having
jurisdiction over the Copenhagen and Oslo APl manufac-
turing facilities gave the Company notice of revised waste
discharge levels. The Company believes it has taken

the actions necessary to comply with the requirements,
including certain plant alterations and modifications at

a cost not material to the Company. The environmental
authorities have not yet confirmed whether the Com-
pany’s actions are in compliance with the requirements
outlined in the notice.

Additionally, in 2006 a criminal fine was levied against
the Company's Oslo AP! facility based on allegations
that certain of the discharge activities at the facility
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were in breach of applicable regulations. The Company
is in discussions with the local authorities regarding this
fine. The failure or inability to comply with applicable
regulations could result in further criminal or civil
actions affecting production at these facilities which
could be materially adverse to the Company.

Other Commercial Disputes

The Company is engaged in disputes with several
suppliers, customers and distributors regarding certain
obligations with respect to cantracts under which the
Company obtains raw materials and under which the
Company supplies finished products. Given the fact that
these disputes will most probably be resolved over
more than one year, management does not believe that
the disputes in the aggregate will be material to the
Company's financial position. However, they could be
material to the Company’s results of operations or cash
flows in the period in which resolution oceurs.

Any further responsibility for substantially all of the
material contingent liabilities related to the Generics
Business have has been transferred to Actavis or enti-
ties owned by Actavis, subject to certain representa-
tions or warranties made by the Company to Actavis as
a part of the transaction to the extent such representa-
tions and warranties were incorrect. The Company has
retained certain specified liabilities which it believes are
not material to the Company and, it is possible that the
Company may be held responsible for certain liabilities
of the Generics Business transferred 1o Actavis in the
event Actavis fails or is unable to satisfy such liabilities.

Other Litigation

The Company and its subsidiaries are, from time to
time, involved in other litigation arising out of the ordi-
nary course of business. It is the view of management,
after consultation with counsel, that the ultimate resolu-
tion of all other pending suits on an individual basis
should not have a material adverse effect on the consol-
idated financiat position, results of operations or cash
flows of the Company.




16. Leases

Rental expense under operating leases for the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2005 and 2004 was
$3,077, 5,074, and $4,581, respectively. Future
minimum lease commitments under non-cancelable
operating leases during each of the next five years
and thereafter are, as follows:

Years Ending December 31,

2007 $ 3,997
2008 2,665
2009 2,419
2010 2,120
201 2,076
Thereafter 2,816

$23.093

Beginning in March 2007, the Company will commence
a 10 year operating lease on a new Corporate headquar-
ters facility. The Company expects to incur redundant
headquarters lease costs for a period in 2007, while the
Company remains at its current headquarters in prepa-
ration for the move.

17. Stockholders’ Equity

Until Decermber 28, 2008, A.L. Industrier ASA beneficially
owned all of the outstanding shares of the Company's
Class B comrmon stack, or approximately 22% of the
Company's total common stock. Through its ownership
of the Class B common stock, Industrier had voting
power that provided it with effective control of the
Company. On December 28, 2006, the Company pur-
chased 100% of the outstanding shares of the Compa-
ny's Class B common stock from Industrier. Including
refated fees, the cost of the repurchase was approxi-
mately $307,397. Following the Class B share repur-
chase, control of the Company now rests in the helders
of the Class A shares acting by the majority applicable
under Delaware law and Company’s charter documents.

The number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock is
500,000; the number of authorized shares of Class A
Common Stock is 75,000,000; and the number of
authorized shares of Class B Common Stock is
15,000,000.

A summary of activity in common and treasury stock is as follows:

2006 2005 2004
Class A Common Stock Issued
Balance, January 1, 42,533,593 41,277,761 40,483,818
Exercise of stock options and other 774,613 762,067 199,565
Restricted stock issued, net of forfeitures 32,965 245,991 350,430
Employee stock purchase plan 86,425 247,774 243,948
Balance, December 31, 43,427,596 42,633,593 41,277,761
Class B Common Stock Issued
Balance, January 1 and December 31, 11,872,897 11,872,897 11,872,897
Treasury Stock
Balance, January 1, 328,658 328,658 320,734
Purchases 11,872,897 — 7.924
Balance, December 31, 12,201,555 328,658 328,658
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{continued)

During 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company issued
158,545, 328,490, and 370,550 shares of restricted
stock, respectively. Compensation cost for restricted
stock is recorded based on the market value on the
date of grant, The fair value of restricted stock is
charged to Stockholders’ Equity and amortized to
expense over the requisite vesting periods. Compensa-
tion expense related to restricted stock was $2,461 in
2008, $4,320 in 2005, and $3,067 in 2004. A summary
of restricted stock activity is as follows:

2006 2005
Cutstanding awards—
beginning of year 751,175 505,184
New awards granted 158,545 328,490
Restricted shares forfeited {125,580} {82,499}
Qutstanding awards—end of year 784,140 751,175
Weighted-average market value
of new awards on award date $27.34 $12.85

18. Derivatives and Fair Value

of Financial Instruments:
The Company currently uses the following derivative
financial instruments for purposes other than trading:

Derivative Use Purpose

Occasional  Entered into selectively
1o sell or buy cash flows
in non-functional
currencies.

Forward foreign
exchange contracts

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had
forward foreign exchange contracts outstanding with a
notional amount of approximately $74,860 and $126,973,
respectively. These contracts called for the exchange of
Scandinavian and other Eurcpean currencies and in some
cases the U.S. Dollar to meet commitments in or sell
cash flows generated in non-functional currencies. All
outstanding contracts will expire in 2007 and the unreal-
ized gains and losses are not material. The Company
does not account for these transactions as hedges
under SFAS 133,
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Counterparties to derivative agreements are major
financial institutions. Management believes the risk of
incurring tosses related to credit risk is remote.

The carrying amounts reported in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, accounts payable and short-term debt approxi-
mate fair value because of the immediate or short-term
maturity of these financial instruments.

19. Stock-based Compensation

Prior to May 19, 2003, the Company granted options to
key employees to purchase shares of Class A Common
Stock under the 1997 Incentive Stock Option and
Appreciation Right Plan {the "Plan"}. The maximum
number of Class A shares available for grant under the
Plan was 8,000,000. In addition, the Company had a
Non-Employee Director Option Plan (the “Director Plan”)
which provided for the issue of up to 350,000 shares of
Class A Common stock. The exercise price of options
granted under the Plan could not be less than 100% of
the fair market value of the Class A Common Stock on
the date of the grant. Options granted expired from
three to ten years after the grant date. Generally, options
were exercisable in installments of 25% beginning one
year from date of grant. The Plan permitted a cash
appreciation right to be granted to certain employees.

On May 19, 2003, the Company's stockholders
approved the Alpharma Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive
Compensation Plan (the "Incentive Compensation
Pian”). The Incentive Compensation Plan permits stock
option grants, stock appreciation rights grants {"SARs"),
annual incentive awards, stock grants, restricted stock
grants, restricted stock unit grants, performance stock
grants, performance units grants, and cash awards.
Upon adoption of the Incentive Compensation Plan,

no additional options were granted under the previously
existing plans and all shares reserved under these exist-
ing plans were returned to the Company's supply of
authorized but unissued shares, not reserved for any
purpose, although outstanding options granted pursuant




to the previously existing ptans will remain outstanding.
Upon adoption, the maximum number of Class A shares
available for grant under the Incentive Compensation Plan
was 4,750,000 and the number of shares that were per-
mitted to be issued for Awards other than stock options
or SARS (both with a grant price equal to at least fair
market value at date of grant), were not to exceed a
total of 2,000,000 shares. Options granted expire from

The table below summarizes the activity of the Plan:

three to ten years after the grant date. Generally, options
are exercisable in installments of 25% beginning one
year from date of grant. If an option holder ceases to be
an employee of the Company or its subsidiaries for any
reason prior to vesting of any options, all options which
are not vested at the date of termination are forfeited.
As of December 31, 2006, there were 2,839,253 shares
available for future grant under all plans.

Weighted-Average

Options Weighted-Average Aggregate Remaining

QOutstanding Exercise Price Intrinsic Value Contractual Term
Balance at December 31, 2003 3,941,338 $20.85
Granted in 2004 383,710 $19.72
Forfeited in 2004 {671,301) $22.44
Exercised in 2004 (196,887) $12.31

Balance at Decernber 31, 2004 3,456,860 $20.85 $ 6,506 5.62
Granted in 2005 203,400 $13.36
Farfeited in 2005 (439,028} $20.87
Exercised in 2005 (794,239) $15.69

Balance at December 31, 2005 2,426,993 $21.90 $20,567 437
Granted in 2006 327,495 $28.72
Forfeited in 2006 (687,480) $26.20
Exercised in 2006 (722,726) $15.48

Balance at December 31, 2006 1,344,282 $24.77 $ 4,759 5.45

Weighted-Average

Options Weighted-Average Aggregate Remaining

Exercisable Exercise Price Intrinsic Value Contractual Term

December 31, 2004 2,091,857 $23.78 $ 3,248 4.40

December 31, 2005 1,826,167 $24.00 $12.693 3.50

December 31, 2006 887,676 $25.09 $ 3,465 376

As of December 31, 2008, the total remaining unrecog-
nized compensation cost related 1o non-vested stock
options, net of forfeitures, amounted to $4,576. The
total of unrecognized compensation cost related to
non-vested restricted stock is $5,635. The weighted-
average remaining requisite service period of the non-
vested stock options was approximately 27 months.

Compensation for restricted stock is recorded based
on the market value of the stock on the grant date.
Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company capitalized

the full amount of the restricted stock as unearned
compensation, with an offset to additional paid-in capital.
Effective January 1, 20086, in accordance with SFAS
123R, the Company reversed the unamaortized balance
of $5,395 against additional paid-in capital. The fair
value of restricted stock is amortized to expense over
the requisite service period. Amortization expense
retated to restricted stock amounted to $2,461, $4,320
and $3,067 for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively.
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The Company’s 2003 Cmnibus Incentive Compensation
Plan provided for the issuance of performance units
that were valued based on the Company's Total Share-
holder Return as compared 1o a market index of peer
companies and the satisfaction of a free cash flow
threshold. Each performance unit had a potential value
between zero and $200. In conjunction with the sale

of the Generics Business, which made the peer group
comparisen no longer relevant, the Company terminated
the performance unit plan effective December 18, 2005.
The Company fixed the final payout for each outstanding
performance unit at $100 per unit. At December 31,
2006, the total value of performance units outstanding
was $5,946. This amount, net of forfeitures, will be
paid out at the end of the plan’'s original three year
vesting periods: Decernber 31, 2006 and 2007. The
amount vested as of December 31, 2006, $3,278, was
paid in the first quarter of 2007; the amount scheduled
to vest as of December 31, 2007, $2,668, will be paid
in the first quarter of 2008. This cost is being amortized
to expense over the remaining service period. The
Company recognized expense related 1o performance
units for its continuing operations for years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 in the amount of $4,501
and $163, respectively.

The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan
by which eligible employees of the Company may autho-
rize payroll deductions up to 4% of their regular base
salary to purchase shares of Ciass A Common Stock at
fair market value. The Company matches these contri-
butions with an additional contribution equal to 50% of
the employee’s contribution. Shares are issued on the
last day of each calendar quarter. The Company’s con-
tributions to the plan were approximately $700, $1,400,
and $1,500 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and
are included within operating income,
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20. Supplemental Data
Other assets and deferred charges at December 31
include:

2006 2005
Deferred tax assets $48,817 $62,011
Capitalized software cost, net
of amortization 9,253 11,223
Deferred borrowing costs, net
of amortization 838 1,641
Supplemental savings plan 2,385 6,977
Unfunded ABO — 635
Other 381 122
$61,674 $72,609

2006 2005 2004
$ 23,890 347,413 $51,745
$ 21,860 $43,781 $44,658

Years Ended December 31,

Depreciation expense

Amortization expense

Interest cost incurred:

Interest income $(19,328) $1{1,385) § (780}

Interest expense 2,625 46,967 56,025
Amortization of loan costs 250 2,168 2,737
Subtotal (16,453) 47,750 57,982
Capitalized intgrest — 610 405
Interest cost {earned}

incurred ${16,453) $48,360 $58,387

Asset impairment and other:

Net pension

curtailment gain $(7542 8§ — $§ —
{Gain)/loss on sale of

Aquatic business {1,922) — 9,887
Legal settlement 1,100 — —
Gain on sale of facility (469) — —
Severance as a result

of reorganization 58 1,184 1,123
Asset write-ofis 502 — —
Other 14 — —

$ (8,259) $ 1,184 311,110
Other income {expensel}, net:

Foreign exchange gains

{losses), net $ 296 $ 2763 % 1,574
Loss on sale of Wynco — — {1,623}
Other, net (425} 1,943 a07

$ (129) § 4706 $ 458




Supplemental cash flow information:

2006 2005 2004

Cash paid for interest (net of

amount capitalized) $ 5952 $42,216 § 48,089

Cash paid for income taxes

{net of refunds) $64,439 $20,293 § 11,564

Other non-cash operating
activities {includes
discontinued operations}:

Goodwill impairment $ — $ 815 $260,000

Fixed asset impairments 317 624 19,181
Gain on sale of facility (469} — —
Inventory impairments — 1,319 6,995
Intangible asset impairments 395 601 4,450
Other non-cash asset
write-downs 96 88 1,528
Loss on sale of
Aquatics business — — 9,987
$ 339 § 3447 $302141

21. Information Concerning Business
Segments and Geographic Operations
The operations of each segment are evaluated based

on earnings before interest and taxes {operating
income). Unallocated includes corporate expenses for
administration, finance, legal, and certain unallocated
expenses primarily related to the implementation of a

company-wide Enterprise Resource Planning System,
and the amortization of restricted stock and stock options;
and, in 2006 and 2005, certain other expenses related
to management retention and transition. Eliminations
include inter-segment sales. Geographic revenues repre-
sent sales to third parties by country in which the selling
legal entity is domiciled. Operating assets directly attrib-
utable to business segments are included in identifiable
assets (i.e. sum of accounts receivable, inventories, net
property, plant and equipment and net intangible assats).
Operating assets for Pharmaceuticals do not include
manufacturing property, plant and equipment. Cash,
prepaid expenses, and other corporate and non-allocated
assets are included in unallocated. Discontinued opera-
tions include the Generics Business and the ParMed
Business. For geographic reperting, long-lived assets
include net property, plant and equipment, goodwill,
and net intangibles. Segment data includes immaterial
inter-segment revenues. AH revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2006 include one product that individually
accounts for more than 10% of consolidated revenues,
Chlortetracyline ($115,500). Pharmaceuticals revenues
for the year ended December 31, 2006 are entirely com-
prised of KADIAN sales, and account for more than
10% of consolidated revenues. One Pharmaceuticals’
wholesale customer accounts for more than 10% of
consolidated revenues.
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notes to consolidated financial statements i tousands. except share data) |
{continued)}
Total Operating Identifiable Depreciation Capital
Revenue Income Assets and Amortization Expenditures
2006
Pharmaceuticals $138,176 $ 28,304 $ 213,687 $ 8,703 $ 5,019
AP 168,688 51,821 169,606 14,132 18,003
AH 346,931 71,528 332,078 19,258 8,811
Unallgcated & Eliminations 33 {56,053} 211,868 3,540 4,215
Discontinued Operations —_ —_— — 117 123
$653,828 $ 95,600 § 927,239 $45,750 $36,171
2005
Pharmaceuticals $101,579 $ 23,682 $ 208,371 $ 7.963 $ 907
API 138,355 52,419 139,073 11,100 7.697
AH 325,065 66,279 329,216 18,890 5,090
Unallocated & Eliminations (11,382) {47,469) 929,365 5874 8,605
Discontinued Operations — — 17,358 47,367 16,740
$553.617 $94,811 $1,623,383 $£91,194 $38,939
2004
Pharmaceuticals $ 62,399 $ 6,452 $ 198,220 $ 7,770 $ 696
API 143,199 72,772 155,109 9,508 25,723
AH 314,842 24,810 329,870 20,206 5,057
Unallocated & Eliminations {6,911} 41,012 248,936 7,616 1,723
Discontinued Operations —_ — 1,107,477 51,303 16,107
$513,329 $63,022 $2,039,612 $96,403 $49,306

Geographic Information

Reverues Long-lived {dentifiable Assets
2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
United States £484.700 $421,600 $368,400 $331,888 $343,600 $362,034
Norway 18,800 10,200 18,600 19,300 19,000 23,897
Denmark 47,300 33,500 24,300 79,700 84,700 80,234
Other 103,028 88,317 102,029 81,136 60,704 84,089
$653,328 £553,617 $513,329 §512,024 $508,004 $550,254
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22. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth
2006 Quartert®! Quarter Quarter Quarter® Full Year
Total Revenue $158,980 $159,196 $165,345 £170,307 $653,828
Gross Profit $ 96,183 $ 96,002 $ 94,506 $ 95,149 $381,840
Net Income $ 33434 $ 16,294 $ 17,012 $ 15,804 § 82,544
Income per share from continuing operations—basic £ 013 $ 033 $ 032 $ 034 s 112
Net income per share—basic $ 062 $ 030 $ 032 s 029 $ 154
tncome per share from continuing operations—diluted $ 013 $§ 032 $ o $ 034 $ 11
Net income per share—diluted $ 0862 $ 030 $ o $ 029 $ 152

First Second Third Fourth
2005 CQuarter Quarter Quarter Quarter® Full Year
Total Revenue $124,093 $137.639 $135,525 $156,360 $553,617
Gross Profit $ 73,678 $ 83,926 $ 83,285 % 95,365 $336,254
Net Income $ 8814 $ 20,026 $ 17,849 $ 87,080 $133,769
Income per share from continuing operations—basic $ (0.22) $ D012 £ 010 $ 1.8 $ 1.8
Net income per share—basic $ 017 £ 038 $ 034 $ 165 § 255
income per share from continuing operations—diluted $ (0.22) $ 012 $§ 010 $ 1186 § 117
Net income per share—diluted § 017 $ 038 $ 034 $ 182 $ 252

a) In the first quarter of 2006, the Company recorded a net gain in Discontinued Operations on the sale of ParMed of $25,263. Also included in the
first quarter 2006 results is a call premium of $18.894 and the write-off of deferred loan costs of $521, associated with the repayment of the
Company's remaining debt in January 2008.

b) in the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company recorded a net pre-tax pension curtailment gain of $7.5 million.

¢} In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company reversed its U.S. deferred tax valuation allowance given its current and expected profitability, resulting

in a tax benefit of $52,121 and provided taxes of $28,600 on the repatriation of cash earnings from controlled foreign corporations. |n addition,
the Company recognized a net gain in Discontinued Operations on the sals of the Generics business of $35,258.
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controls and procedures

{a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company has implemented and maintains disclo-
sure controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disciosed in reports the
Company files or submits under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s
rules and forms and that such information is accumu-
lated and communicated to the Company's President
and Chief Executive Officer {"CEQ") and Vice President
Finance and Interim Chief Financial Officer ("CFQ") as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding disclo-
sure. The disclosure controls and procedures involve
participation by various individuals in the Company
having access to material information relating to the
operations of the Company. It should be noted that
any system of controls, however well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable, and not abso-
lute, assurance that the objectives of the system are
met. In addition, the design of any control system is
based in part upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events.

The Company's CEOQ and CFO completed an evaluation
of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures pursuant
to Exchange Rule 13a-15 as of December 31, 2006.
Based on this evaluation, they concluded that the
Company's disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of December 31, 20086.

{b} Management’s Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and main-
taining adequate internal control aver financial reporting.
The Company's internal control aver financial reporting
is a process that is designed to provide reasonahle
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financiat statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and includes those policies and
procedures that:
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* Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in rea-
sonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the trans-
actions and dispositions of assets of the Company,

* Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of finan-
cial staternents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and the board of
directors of the Company, and

* Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of the Company's assets that could
have a matenal effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control

over financial reporting may not prevent or detect mis-
statements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditicns, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

Management performed an assessment of the effec-
tiveness of the Company's internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, utilizing the criteria
described in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework”
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission {(“CQSQ"). The objective
of this assessment was to determine whether the
Company's internal control over finangial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2006. Based on that
assessment the Company believes that, at December
31, 20086, its internal control over financial reporting
was effective.

Management's assessment of the effectiveness of

the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2006 has been audited by BDO
Seidman, LLF, an independent registered public account-
ing firm, as stated in their report which follows.




{c) Changes in Internal Control over

Financial Reporting
In its prior year assessment of internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, manage-
ment identified one internal control deficiency that it
concluded was a material weakness. A material weak-
ness is a control deficiency, or comhination of control
deficiencies that results in more than a remote likelihood
that a material misstatement of the annual or interim
financial statements will not be prevented or detected.
in its assessment of the effectiveness internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, the
Company determined that there were deficiencies in its
internal controls over the financial reporting for income
taxes and that these deficiencies constituted a material
weakness, as described below.

The sale of the Company’s Generics Business in the
fourth quarter of 2005 required the Company to affect
numerous transactions retated to the disposition and to
recast its financial statements to separately present
results from continuing and discontinued operations.
This included disaggregating income tax accounis
between continuing and discontinued operations,
accounting for taxes associated with the sale trans-
action and the repatriation of earnings, and evaluating
and adjusting valuation allowances that had been pro-
vided in prior years for certain US deferred tax assets.
The fourth quarter 2005 accounting for income taxes
required significant reliance upon external tax profes-
sionals and senior financial internal review and over-
sight, due to the complexities of the issues involved.
The integration and oversight of the wark of these
service providers reduced the timeliness and accuracy
of recording the final tax provisions and related entries
in the year-end closing process and the preparation of
tax footnote disclosures. The Company concluded that
this reliance principally on outside providers and internal
detective controls reduced the effectiveness of the inter-
nal controls over tax accounting processes. Accordingly,
the Company concluded that a material weakness
existed at December 31, 2005 in that it did not maintain
effective internal control over financial reporting for
income taxes, based on the criteria in “Internal Control—
Integrated Framework” issued by the COSO.

During 2005, management implemented enhanced
control procedures related to the accounting for income
taxes. These included: (i) the developrment and com-
munication of enhanced policies and procedures for the
accounting for income taxes, including expanded docu-
mentation requirements to support financial statement
assertions, {ii) retaining a public accounting firm and
other external tax professional services to assist the
Company in its quarterly review, analysis and docu-
mentation of both its US and international income tax
accounts, and {iii) expanding internal financial manage-
ment review and oversight of income tax accounts and
the work of gutside tax service providers.

While management believes the enhanced control
procedures implemented in 2005 served to strengthen
its internal control over the accounting for income
taxes, these enhanced procedures did not contermnplate
a transaction of the magnitude and complexity of the
December 19, 2005 sale of the Generics Business.

Because the December 19, 2005 sale of the Generics
Business has simplified the Company, the tax account-
ing complexities and workload created by the fourth
quarter 2005 transactions described above have been
significantly reduced. In addition, during 2008, the
Company expanded its internal tax staff by recruiting
three additional tax professionals; two of whom are
responsible for the tax accounting and compliance
function. The Company believes that the addition of
these tax professionals to its internal staff, combined
with enhanced tax policies and procedures, and
expanded financial management review and oversight,
has served to remediate the material weakness at
December 31, 2006 related to the financial reporting
for income taxes.

Other than as described above, there have not been
any other changes in the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting during the quarter ended
December 31, 2006 that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.
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report of independent registered public accounting firm

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Alpharma Inc.

1 Executive Drive

Fort Lee, New Jersey 07024

We have audited management’s assessment, included
in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting, that Alpharma Inc.
maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framewaork
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Alpharma
Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining effec-
tive internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management's assessment and an opinion
on the effectiveness of the company's internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all matenial respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, evaluating management's
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control, and perform-
ing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is
a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures

that (1} pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
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reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the trans-
actions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2} provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expendi-
tures of the company are made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the com-
pany; and {3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisi-
tion, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control

over financial reporting may not prevent or detect mis-
statements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinicn, management’s assessment that Alpharma
Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 20086, is fairly stated, in all
material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also in
our opinion, Alpharma Inc. maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 20086, based on the COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards
of the Public Cormmpany Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheet of
Alpharma Inc. as of December 31, 2006, and the related
consolidated staternents of income, stockholders’ equity,
and cash flows for the year then ended and our report
dated February 28, 2007 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon,

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP

New York, NY
February 28, 2007




report of independent registered public accounting firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Alpharma Inc.

1 Executive Drive

Fort Lee, New Jersey 07024

We have audited the accompanying consolidated bal-
ance sheets of Alpharma Inc. as of December 31, 2006
and 2005 and the related consolidated statements of
income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the
years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board {United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assur-
ance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstaterment. An audit includes examining. on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and dis-
closures in the financial staterments, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Alpharma Inc. at December 31,
2006 and 2005 and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

As described in Note 2, in 2006 the Company adopted
the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123{R), “Share-Based Payment,” utilizing
the modified prospective transition method effective
January 1, 2006.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States), the effectiveness of Alpharma Inc.'s
internal control aver financial reporting as of December
31, 20086, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Commit-
tee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Com-
mission (COSQ) and cur report dated February 28,
2007 expressed an ungualified opinion thereon.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP

New York, NY
February 28, 2007

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Alpharma Inc:

In our opinion, the consolidated statements of operations,
of stockholders’ equity and cash flows listed in the index
on page F-1 present fairly, in alt material respects, the
results of operations and cash flows of Alpharma Inc.
and its subsidiaries for the year ended December 31,
2004, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company's man-
agement. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audit. We con-
ducted our audit of these statements in accordance with
the standards of the Public Company Accounting Over-
sight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free

of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disciosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall finan-
cial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Ftorham Park, New Jersey

March 31, 2005, except for the restatement discussed in
Note 2b {not presented herein) to the consolidated finan-
cial statements appearing under Itern 15 of the Company's
2004 annual report on Form 10-K/A, as to which the date
is May b, 2005 and the effects of discontinued opera-
tions discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, as to which the date is March 16, 2006.
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market for registrant’s common equity, related stockholder matters
and issuer purchased equity securities

Market Information

The Company's Class A Commeon Stock is listed on
the New York Stock Exchange {“NYSE"}. Information
concerning the 2006 and 2005 sales prices of the
Company's Class A Common Stock is set forth in the
table betow.

Stock Trading Price

2006 2005
Quarter High Low High Low
First £33.80 $26.20 $16.62 $12.32
Second $27.03 $21.65 $14.69 $ 944
Third $24.35 $19.98 $27.36 $13.77
Fourth $24.39 $20.93 $30.57 $23.73

As of December 31, 2006 and February 28, 2007 the
Company’s stock closing price was $24.10 and $26.36,
respectively.

Holders

As of February 12, 2007, there were 1,133 holders of
record of the Company's Class A Common Stock.
Record holders of the Class A Common Stock include
Cede & Co., a clearing agency which held approxi-
mately 98% of the outstanding Class A Common Stock

as a nominee. On December 28, 2006, the Company
purchased 100% of the outstanding shares of the
Company's Class B common stock from AL, Industrier.
Including related fees, the cost of the repurchase was
approximately $307.4 million. The cost of the share
repurchase is included in Treasury Stock. Following the
Class B share repurchase, control of the Company now
rests in the haolders of the Class A shares acting by the
majority applicable under Delaware law and Company’s
charter documents.

Dividends

Through the third quarter of 2006, the Company declared
consecutive quarterly cash dividends on its Class A and
Class B Common Stock since the third quarter of 1984.
Declared dividends per share in 2006 and 2005 were
$0.135 and $0.18, respectively. Effective in the fourth
quarter of 2006, the Company discontinued its dividend.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity
Compensation Plans

See Item 12 of the Company's Form 10-K for the year
ending December 31, 2006,

stockholder return comparison

The foltowing graph compares the Company’s cumula-
tive total Stockholder return during the last five years
with composites of Hemscott, Inc. indices for Drug
Manufacturers. Since the Company's 2005 divestiture
of its global generics business changed its operating
profile, the company is providing two peer compari-
sons. The “Old Peer Group” includes generic manu-
facturers; the “New Peer Group” excludes generic
manufacturers, Both peer group composites include
over 120 corporations that describe themseives as drug
manufacturers and are publicly traded. The graph also
compares the Company’s performance with the New
York Stock Exchange Market Index. The graph assumes
$100 invested as of the end of the day on December
31, 2001 in the company’'s Class A stock and $100
invested at that time in each of the selected indices.
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